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Executive Summary

On October 3, 2008, the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 (“EESA” or the “Act”)
was signed into law.! Section 133 of the Act mandates that the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC” or “Commission”) conduct, in consultation with the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System (“Federal Reserve”) and the Secretary of the Treasury,
a study on mark-to-market accounting standards as provided by Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements (“SFAS No. 157”).2

As discussed further in this study, SFAS No. 157 does not itself require mark-to-market or fair
value accounting. Rather, other accounting standards in various ways require what is more
broadly known as “fair value” accounting, of which mark-to-market accounting is a subset.
SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), and requires expanded disclosures about
fair value measurements. However, to ensure that this study was responsive to the policy debate
discussed below, for purposes of this study the SEC Staff (the “Staff””) considered the issue of
fair value accounting in this larger context, including both mark-to-market accounting and SFAS
No. 157.

The events leading up to the Congressional call for this study illustrated the need for identifying
and understanding the linkages that exist between fair value accounting standards and the
usefulness of information provided by financial institutions. In the months preceding passage of
the Act, some asserted that fair value accounting, along with the accompanying guidance on
measuring fair value under SFAS No. 157, contributed to instability in our financial markets.
According to these critics, fair value accounting did so by requiring what some believed were
potentially inappropriate write-downs in the value of investments held by financial institutions,
most notably due to concerns that such write-downs were the result of inactive, illiquid, or
irrational markets that resulted in values that did not reflect the underlying economics of the
securities. These voices pointed out the correlation between U.S. GAAP reporting and the
regulatory capital requirements of financial institutions, highlighting that this correlation could
lead to the failure of long-standing financial institutions if sufficient additional capital is
unavailable to offset investment write-downs. Further, they believed the need to raise additional
capital, the effect of failures, and the reporting of large write-downs would have broader negative
impact on markets and prices, leading to further write-downs and financial instability.

Just as vocal were other market participants, particularly investors, who stated that fair value
accounting serves to enhance the transparency of financial information provided to the public.
These participants indicated that fair value information is vital in times of stress, and a
suspension of this information would weaken investor confidence and result in further instability
in the markets. These participants pointed to what they believe are the root causes of the crisis,
namely poor lending decisions and inadequate risk management, combined with shortcomings in
the current approach to supervision and regulation, rather than accounting. Suspending the use

' Pub. L. No. 110-343, Division A.
Z See Section 133(a) of the Act.



of fair value accounting, these participants warned, would be akin to “shooting the messenger”
and hiding from capital providers the true economic condition of a financial institution. These
participants noted that they were aware of the arguments about the correlation between U.S.
GAAP reporting and the regulatory capital requirements of financial institutions. However, they
pointed out that adjustments to the calculation of regulatory capital, like those adjustments
currently in place for “available-for-sale” (“AFS”) securities, can be made to reduce this
correlation where appropriate.®

As the debate intensified in late September of 2008, SEC Staff and the FASB staff issued a joint
press release clarifying the application of SFAS No. 157.* This joint release clarified the
measurement of fair value when an active market for a security does not exist. On October 10,
2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) 157-3, Determining the Fair Value of a
Financial Asset When the Market for That Asset Is Not Active (“FSP FAS 157-3"), which further
clarified the application of fair value measurements.

Currently, the debate over fair value measurements extends beyond national borders and is being
considered internationally by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), the
standard-setting body for international financial reporting standards (“IFRS”), and other global
market participants. To coordinate international efforts, and address issues such as fair value
measurements that have arisen from the global economic crisis, the IASB and FASB (the
“Boards”) created a global advisory group comprising regulators, preparers, auditors, and
investors.

As a result of both domestic and international concern, it has become clear that a careful and
thoughtful consideration of all competing viewpoints is necessary to determine what further
action may be appropriate. The credibility and experience of parties on both sides of this debate
demand careful attention to their points and counterpoints on the effects of fair value accounting
on financial markets. Moreover, a broader understanding of the prevalence of fair value
accounting relative to other measures of fair value that do not immediately impact a financial
institution’s income or capital requirements is needed to narrow the issues to those most relevant
to the debate.

For many years, accounting standards have required measurement of financial instruments on a
financial institution’s balance sheet at fair value. In some cases, for example when securities are
actively traded, changes in fair value are required to be recognized in the income statement. This
is the specific meaning of “mark-to-market” accounting. However, in most other cases, such
changes in fair value are generally reported in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) or equity,
and these changes do not flow through to income unless an impairment has occurred.

® AFS securities are measured at fair value on a financial institution’s balance sheet with changes in fair value
generally reported in a balance sheet line called accumulated other comprehensive income, or equity. The Staff
understands that changes in fair value reported in other comprehensive income or equity are generally excluded
from regulatory capital ratios. On the other hand, consistent with safety and soundness objectives, losses on assets
that are reflected in income and retained earnings in accordance with U.S. GAAP are generally recognized in
regulatory capital.

* See “SEC Office of the Chief Accountant and FASB Staff Clarifications on Fair Value Accounting,” SEC Press
Release No. 2008-234 (September 30, 2008).



It is also important, as noted above, to clearly demarcate the difference between the accounting
standards that require measurement of financial instruments at fair value and SFAS No. 157,
which only provides guidance on how to estimate fair value. This demarcation is important
when considering the focus of this study as well as its recommendations.

Although not mandated for study by the Act, the Staff believes that it is important to recognize
what many believe to be the larger problem in the financial crisis that led to the financial distress
at financial institutions other than banks, including The Bear Stearns Companies, Inc. (“Bear
Stearns”), Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (“Lehman”), and Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. (“Merrill
Lynch”). Rather than a crisis precipitated by fair value accounting, the crisis was a “run on the
bank” at certain institutions, manifesting itself in counterparties reducing or eliminating the
various credit and other risk exposures they had to each firm. This was, in part, the result of the
massive de-leveraging of balance sheets by market participants and reduced appetite for risk as
margin calls increased, putting enormous pressure on asset prices and creating a “self-reinforcing
downward spiral of higher haircuts, forced sales, lower prices, higher volatility, and still lower
prices.” The trust and confidence that counterparties require in one another in order to lend,
trade, or engage in similar risk-based transactions evaporated to varying degrees for each firm
very quickly. What would have been more than sufficient in previous stressful periods was
insufficient in more extreme times.

A. The Organization of this Study

As mandated by the Act, this study addresses six key issues in separate sections. Issues were
studied using a combination of techniques, which are described in each of the respective
sections. Where practicable under the time constraints of this study, data was analyzed
empirically and obtained from a broad-based population that included a cross-section of financial
institutions.

For issues that did not lend themselves to empirical analysis, alternative methods were
undertaken, including Staff research of public records, analysis of public comment letters
received regarding this study, and the hosting of three public roundtables to obtain a wide range
of views and perspectives from all parties. Careful attention was given to maximize the
opportunities for both proponents and opponents of fair value measurements to be heard.

This study is organized into seven sections, beginning with an introductory section that outlines
in greater detail the mandate for this study under the Act and background information intended to
provide readers with a common base of knowledge. Each of the remaining six sections addresses
one of the issues mandated for study. The following highlights each of these six sections.

® Testimony of Timothy F. Geithner, President and Chief Executive Officer, Federal Reserve Bank of New York,
before the Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs of the United States Senate on Actions by the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York in Response to Liquidity Pressures in Financial Markets (April 3, 2008).



1. Effects of Fair Value Accounting Standards on Financial Institutions’
Balance Sheets

This section explores the effects of fair value accounting standards on financial institutions’
balance sheets. In the debate concerning fair value accounting, some assert that accounting
standards that require fair value accounting may inappropriately affect the balance sheets of
financial institutions. This section studies those concerns by analyzing a sample of fifty financial
institutions that were selected from a broad-based population of financial institutions in our
markets.

The effects of fair value accounting standards on each financial institution was studied to gauge
the prevalence of assets measured at fair value on the balance sheet and the subset of those assets
that are also marked-to-market through the income statement. This study also evaluated, among
other items, the level within SFAS No. 157°s fair value hierarchy in which assets fell.®
Information was analyzed by type of financial institution to draw out common characteristics and
dissimilarities that may exist within each industry type.

From the sample of financial institutions studied in this section of the study, the Staff observed
that fair value measurements were used to measure a minority of the assets (45%) and liabilities
(15%) included in financial institutions’” balance sheets. The percentage of assets for which
changes in fair value affected income was significantly less (25%), reflecting the mark-to-market
requirements for trading and derivative investments. However, for those same financial
institutions, the Staff observed that fair value measurements did significantly affect financial
institutions’ reported income.

2. Impact of Fair Value Accounting on Bank Failures in 2008

This section analyzes possible linkages between fair value accounting and bank failures
occurring during 2008. Some have asserted that fair value accounting contributed to the failure
of one, or more, financial institutions during 2008.

For purposes of studying this issue, banks were grouped based on asset size. Within each group,
this study evaluated banks’ use of fair value measurements over time by analyzing data over a
period of three years. The Staff also analyzed the key drivers of regulatory capital to evaluate
the impact of fair value measurements on capital adequacy relative to other factors, such as
incurred losses on loans.

The Staff observes that fair value accounting did not appear to play a meaningful role in bank
failures occurring during 2008. Rather, bank failures in the U.S. appeared to be the result of
growing probable credit losses, concerns about asset quality, and, in certain cases, eroding lender
and investor confidence. For the failed banks that did recognize sizable fair value losses, it does
not appear that the reporting of these losses was the reason the bank failed.

® SFAS No. 157’s fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into
three broad levels. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
(Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).



3. Impact of Fair Value Accounting on the Quality of Financial
Information Available to Investors

This section describes investors’ views related to the usefulness of fair value accounting.
Proponents of fair value accounting assert the importance of such concepts to the transparency of
financial information provided to investors. To evaluate those assertions, the Staff considered
how fair value accounting and fair value measurements are used by investors.

The Staff considered a broad spectrum of investor perspectives, including those focused on both
debt and equity analysis. The sources of information included Staff research of published
investor views, analysis of comment letters received by the Commission on this topic, and
consideration of the views expressed during a series of three roundtables hosted by the
Commission. In addition, the Staff surveyed academic research on the topic and the conclusions
of two recent federal advisory committees that addressed fair value accounting as part of their
respective mandates.

The Staff’s research on this issue reflects that, based on these sources, investors generally
support measurements at fair value as providing the most transparent financial reporting of an
investment, thereby facilitating better investment decision-making and more efficient capital
allocation amongst firms. While investors generally expressed support for existing fair value
requirements, many also indicated the need for improvements to the application of existing
standards. Improvements to the impairment requirements, application in practice of SFAS No.
157 (particularly in times of financial stress), fair value measurement of liabilities, and
improvements to the related presentation and disclosure requirements of fair value measures
were cited as areas warranting improvement.

4. Process Used by the FASB in Developing Accounting Standards

This section outlines the independent accounting standard-setting process in the U.S. A key
aspect of this study mandates consideration of the viability and feasibility of modifications to
accounting standards that require fair value accounting. To properly understand the viability and
feasibility of such modifications, a complete understanding of how accounting standards are
developed and promulgated is important.

The Staff’s analysis of the FASB’s processes used to develop accounting standards reaffirms that
an independent accounting standard-setter is best positioned to develop neutral and unbiased
accounting guidance. The Staff believes that while the FASB’s process works well for this
purpose, there are several steps that could be taken to enhance the existing procedures. These
recommendations include steps that could enhance the timeliness and transparency of the
process. For example, to be responsive to the need to timely identify and address challenges
encountered in the application of standards in practice, key participants in the capital markets
need to communicate and understand these challenges as they arise. To facilitate the more
timely identification and resolution of issues, the Staff believes that it is advisable to move
quickly to implement the recommendation of the SEC Advisory Committee on Improvements to
Financial Reporting (“CIFiR”) related to the creation of a financial reporting forum (“FRF”).



5. Alternatives to Fair Value Accounting Standards

This section examines the potential alternatives to fair value measurements. During the recent
debate leading to the mandate for this study, some have considered the feasibility of suspending
SFAS No. 157. This section first addresses the specific consequences of suspending the
guidance in SFAS No. 157, which would not itself change fair value accounting requirements,
but rather remove the currently operative guidance for implementation. This section also
discusses whether it would be prudent to modify the guidance on fair value measurements that
currently exists.

This section also examines consideration of a suspension of fair value accounting itself,
including the positives and negatives of available alternatives, such as historical cost-based
measures. Valuable insights and thoughts for this section were obtained through review of
academic research, comment letters received on this study, and also from the perspectives of
participants at the three public roundtables hosted by the Commission.

Through its study of this issue, the Staff found that suspending SFAS No. 157 itself would only
lead to a reversion of practice, resulting in inconsistent and sometimes conflicting guidance on
fair value measurements. As to alternatives to fair value accounting, while such alternative
measurement bases exist, each alternative exhibits strengths and weaknesses, as well as
implementation issues. Considering evidence regarding the usefulness of fair value information
to investors, the suspension of fair value accounting to return to historical cost-based measures
would likely increase investor uncertainty. However, given the significant challenges
encountered in practice related to implementing existing standards, additional actions to improve
the application and understanding of fair value requirements are advisable. Such additional
measures to improve the application should include addressing the need for additional guidance
for determining fair value in inactive markets (including examining the impact of illiquidity),
assessing whether the incorporation of credit risk in fair value measurement of liabilities
provides useful information to investors, and enhancing existing presentation and disclosure
requirements.

One of the most significant concerns expressed regarding existing fair value standards is the
current state of accounting for impairments. Currently there are multiple different models
applied in practice for determining when to record an impairment for investments in securities.
Additionally, existing impairment guidelines for securities are not consistent with the reporting
guidelines for impairment charges for other non-securitized investments (e.g., direct investments
in loans). Accordingly, investors are provided information that is not recognized, calculated, or
reported on a comparable basis. Further, under existing presentation requirements, investors are
often not provided sufficient information to fully assess whether declines in value are related to
changes in liquidity or whether declines relate to probable credit losses. In addition, subsequent
increases in value generally are not reflected in income until the security is sold. The Staff
believes that the existing impairment standards should be readdressed with the goal of improving
the utility of information available to investors.



6. Advisability and Feasibility of Modifications to Fair Value
Accounting Standards

This final section summarizes steps taken and underway to improve upon current accounting
requirements. This section also provides recommendations on the advisability and feasibility of
modifications to existing accounting standards and related financial reporting requirements,
which are discussed below.

B. Recommendations

The recommendations, and the observations leading to the related recommendations, are
described in detail in the final section of this study. For ease of reference, the following table
provides an executive summary of the recommendations based upon the observations of this
study. To facilitate an understanding for how each recommendation was developed, each
recommendation below is associated with relevant observations that indicated a need for action
or improvement.

Recommendation #1 Observations
SFAS No. 157 should be e The guidance in SFAS No. 157 does not
improved, but not suspended. determine when fair value should be applied.

SFAS No. 157 only provides a common
definition of fair value and a common
framework for its application.

e Suspending SFAS No. 157 itself would only
revert practice to inconsistent and sometimes
conflicting guidance on fair value
measurements.

e Other recommendations address necessary
improvements to existing standards.

Recommendation #2 Observations

Existing fair value and mark-to- e Fair value and mark-to-market accounting has

market requirements should not been in place for years and abruptly removing it
be suspended. would erode investor confidence in financial
statements.

e Fair value and mark-to-market accounting do
not appear to be the “cause” of bank and other
financial institution failures.

e Mark-to-market accounting is generally limited
to investments held for trading purposes and for
certain derivative instruments; for many
financial institutions, these represent a minority
of their total investment portfolio.




e Over 90% of investments marked-to-market are
valued based on observable inputs, such as
market quotes obtained from active markets.

e Investors generally agree that fair value
accounting provides meaningful and transparent
financial information, though improvements are
desirable.

Recommendation #3

While the Staff does not
recommend a suspension of
existing fair value standards,
additional measures should be
taken to improve the application
and practice related to existing
fair value requirements
(particularly as they relate to
both Level 2 and Level 3
estimates).

Observations

e Fair value requirements should be improved
through development of application and best
practices guidance for determining fair value in
illiquid or inactive markets. This includes
consideration of additional guidance regarding:
0 How to determine when markets become
inactive

0 How to determine if a transaction or group of
transactions is forced or distressed

o How and when illiquidity should be
considered in the valuation of an asset or
liability, including whether additional
disclosure is warranted

0 How the impact of a change in credit risk on
the value of an asset or liability should be
estimated

0 When observable market information should
be supplemented with and / or reliance
placed on unobservable information in the
form of management estimates

0 How to confirm that assumptions utilized are
those that would be used by market
participants and not just by a specific entity

e Existing disclosure and presentation
requirements related to the effect of fair value in
the financial statements should be enhanced.

e FASB should assess whether the incorporation
of changes in credit risk in the measurement of
liabilities provides useful information to
investors, including whether sufficient
transparency is provided.

e Educational efforts to reinforce the need for
management judgment in the determination of
fair value estimates are needed.

e FASB should consider implementing changes to
its Valuation Resource Group.




Recommendation #4

The accounting for financial
asset impairments should be
readdressed.

Observations

e U.S. GAAP does not provide a uniform model
for assessing impairments.

e The prominence of the measure “OCI,” where
certain impairments are disclosed, could be
enhanced by requiring its display on the income
statement.

e For many financial institutions, financial assets
marked-to-market through the income statement
represent a minority of their investment
portfolio.

e A large portion of financial institutions’
investment portfolios consist of AFS securities
or loans, subject to challenging judgments
related to impairment, which determines when
such losses are reported in the income statement.

e Current impairment standards generally preclude
income recognition when securities prices
recover until investments are sold.

Recommendation #5

Implement further guidance to

foster the use of sound judgment.

Observations

e SFAS No. 157 is an objectives-based accounting
standard that relies on sound, reasoned judgment
in its application.

e Sound judgment is a platform from which to
foster the neutral and unbiased measures of fair
value desired by investors.

e Requests have been made for the Commission
and the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (“PCAOB”) to emphasize their support
for sound judgment in the application of
accounting and auditing standards.

Recommendation #6

Accounting standards should
continue to be established to
meet the needs of investors.

Observations

e Investors, and most others, agree that financial
reporting’s primary purpose is to meet the
information needs of investors.

e Most appear to agree that fair value
measurements provide useful information to
investors, meeting their information needs.

e Beyond meeting the information needs of
investors, general-purpose financial reporting
has secondary uses that may be of additional




utility to others, such as for prudential oversight.

e General-purpose financial reporting should not
be revised to meet the needs of other parties if
doing so would compromise the needs of
investors.

Recommendation #7

Additional formal measures to
address the operation of existing
accounting standards in practice
should be established.

Observations

e While the existing FASB process works well,
steps could be taken to enhance the process.

e After adoption of new accounting standards,
unforeseen implementation issues often may
arise.

¢ An independent accounting standard-setter is
best equipped to address broadly effective
implementation issues that arise from the
adoption of a new accounting standard.

¢ Independent accounting standard-setters are well
served by the input received from a broad
spectrum of constituents.

e Critical to the success of an independent
accounting standard-setter is its timely
responsiveness to the information needs of
investors.

Recommendation #8

Address the need to simplify the
accounting for investments in
financial assets.

Observations

e The prominence of OCI could be enhanced by
requiring its display on the income statement.

e Many investors feel that clear disclosure of the
inputs and judgments made when preparing a
fair value measurement is useful.

e While a move to require fair value measurement
for all financial instruments would likely reduce
the operational complexity of U.S. GAAP, the
use of fair value measurements should not be
significantly expanded until obstacles related to
such reporting are further addressed.
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I.  Introduction
A. How this Study Fulfills the Statutory Mandate
1. Statutory Mandate

The mandate for this study comes from the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008,
which was signed into law on October 3, 2008. Section 133 of the Act mandates that the SEC
conduct, in consultation with the Federal Reserve and the Secretary of the Treasury,

a study on mark-to-market accounting standards as provided in Statement Number 157 of
the Financial Accounting Standards Board, as such standards are applicable to financial
institutions, including depository institutions. Such a study shall consider at a
minimum—

(1) the effects of such accounting standards on a financial institution’s balance
sheet;

(2) the impacts of such accounting on bank failures in 2008;

(3) the impact of such standards on the quality of financial information available
to investors;

(4) the process used by the Financial Accounting Standards Board in developing
accounting standards;

(5) the advisability and feasibility of modifications to such standards; and

(6) altergative accounting standards to those provided in such Statement Number
157.

Section 133 of the Act also mandated that the Commission

shall submit to Congress a report of such study before the end of the 90-day period
beginning on the date of the enactment of this Act containing the findings and
determinations of the Commission, including such administrative and legislative
recommendations as the Commission determines appropriate.®

2. Context for this Study

Over the last 12 to 18 months, the world economy has experienced economic conditions that
have affected financial and non-financial institutions. What at one time some viewed as an
isolated crisis in the subprime mortgage sector has spread to the global economy as a whole.
Factors that have been cited as causing or contributing to the current economic crisis include,
among others, low interest rates, rapid housing appreciation, alternative mortgage products,
relaxed underwriting standards, increased leverage, innovative new investments that were

" Section 133(a) of the Act.
& Section 133(b) of the Act.
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believed to be safer than perhaps warranted, and insufficient regulation.” While financial
institutions are experiencing the brunt of increasing mortgage defaults, housing foreclosures,
bank failures, and tighter credit, other industries are experiencing losses, liquidity issues, rapid
decreases in market capitalization, layoffs, and lower consumer confidence — all underscored by
the National Bureau of Economic Research’s recent announcement that the U.S. has been in a
recession since December 2007, which is expected to “likely be the longest, and possibly one of
the deepest, since World War 11.”*°

While analysis of the causes of this crisis is still underway, some believe that fair value
accounting standards have contributed to or exacerbated this crisis, arguing that use of fair value
accounting, particularly when markets are illiquid, has resulted in the valuing of assets well
below their “true economic value.”** Opponents of fair value accounting also argue that these
write-downs have caused a downward spiral, as they have triggered margin and regulatory
capital calls, “have forced rapid asset liquidation, exacerbating the loss of value, diminished
counterparty confidence, and constrained liquidity.”** Proponents counter that fair value
accounting provides useful information to investors and its suspension would increase market
uncertainty and decrease transparency.'® It is in this context that the Staff has performed this
study of mark-to-market accounting to fulfill the Congressional mandate.

3. Approach to this Study

In order to fulfill the mandate and produce this study, the Staff has assigned meaning, as
described below, to the terms “mark-to-market accounting standards,” “financial institutions,”
and “bank failure.” When used in other contexts, these terms may have different definitions or
meanings.

e For the purposes of this study, the Staff interprets “mark-to-market accounting standards” as
accounting standards under U.S. GAAP that define fair value and / or require or permit fair
value measurement in the financial statements with changes reported in income.
Accordingly, “mark-to-market accounting standards” include, but are not limited to, SFAS
No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities (“SFAS No.
115”); SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (“SFAS

® See, e.g., The President’s Working Group on Financial Markets, Policy Statement on Financial Market
Developments (March 2008); Robert Herz, Chairman, FASB, Lessons L earned, Relearned, and Relearned Again
from the Credit Crisis — Accounting and Beyond (September 18, 2008); and The Financial Stability Forum, Report
of the Financial Stability Forum on Enhancing Market and Institutional Resilience (April 7, 2008).

10 “Statement by Chad Stone, Chief Economist, on the November Employment Report,” Center on Budget and
Policy Priorities (December 5, 2008).

1 See, e.g., letter from Isaac. Comment letters (“letters”) are available on the Commission’s website (at
http://www.sec.gov/comments/4-573/4-573.shtml), and in the Commission’s Public Reference Room in its
Washington, DC headquarters. Unless otherwise noted, comment letters in this study are cited by author (using the
abbreviations in Exhibit A-1 to the comment summary, which is available at Appendix A to this study) and, if
multiple letters were submitted by the same author, also by date.

12 Joyce Joseph-Bell, Ron Joas & Neri Bukspan, Banks: The Fight over Fair Value, BusinessWeek, October 15,
2008.

3 See, e.g., letter from Joint (October 15, 2008).
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No. 133”); SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities (“SFAS No. 140”); SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain
Hybrid Financial Instruments (“SFAS No. 155”); SFAS No. 156, Accounting for Servicing
of Financial Assets (“SFAS No. 156”); SFAS No. 157; and SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (“SFAS No. 159”).

e The term “financial institutions” is defined by the EESA to include public and non-public
banks, insurance companies, and broker-dealers.* For purposes of Section I, and given the
time constraints of this study, the Staff has limited the study sample to public companies, due
to the readily available financial data for these entities. The Staff also included credit
institutions™ and government-sponsored enterprises and similar entities (“GSEs™),® as they
are additional institutions in the financial sector that may be affected by fair value accounting
standards.

e For purposes of Section Il of this study, a “bank failure” refers to an insured depository
institution that is closed by the appropriate state or federal chartering authority in accordance
with applicable law or regulations or by the appropriate federal banking agency (“Agency”)
based on the authority provided under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act,'” entitled Prompt
Corrective Action (“PCA”).

In addition, investment companies are subject to different standards than those of non-investment
companies.’® Accordingly, the Staff determined those companies to be outside the scope of this
study and they are generally not contemplated in the remainder of this study.

The methodologies used by the Staff to gather and analyze data for Sections Il - VI of this study
are described in each of those sections. Broadly, the Staff gathered information for this study
through: (1) a review of publicly available financial and other information, (2) consultations with

“ Specifically, Section 3(5) of the Act defines “financial institutions” to mean

...any institution, including, but not limited to, any bank, savings association, credit union, security broker
or dealer, or insurance company, established and regulated under the laws of the United States or any State,
territory, or possession of the United States, the District of Columbia, Commonwealth of Puerto Rico,
Commonwealth of Northern Mariana Islands, Guam, American Samoa, or the United States Virgin Islands,
and having significant operations in the United States, but excluding any central bank of, or institution
owned by, a foreign government.

1> The Staff refers to establishments primarily engaged in providing loans to individuals as “credit institutions.”
Also included in this industry are establishments primarily engaged in financing retail sales made on the installment
plan and financing automobile loans for individuals.

16 “GSEs” refers to GSEs and other non-depository credit intermediation institutions that primarily provide federally
guaranteed loans.

1712 U.S.C. 1811 et seq.

'8 Investment companies include entities registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 [15 U.S.C. 80a-1 et
seg. (the “Investment Company Act”)] and business development companies. Section 2(a)(41) of the Investment
Company Act defines “value” with respect to the assets of registered investment companies and business
development companies and generally requires the use of either: (1) market value when market quotations are
readily available or (2) fair value, as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors, when market quotations are
not readily available.
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the Federal Reserve and the Department of Treasury, as mandated by the Act, as well as other
federal banking regulators and the FASB, (3) a review of relevant academic research on fair
value accounting, and (4) a request for public comment*® and a series of three public
roundtables® to obtain constituent views about fair value. Views from commenters that
responded to the Staff’s request for public comment and roundtable participants are referenced
throughout this study. A summary of comments and commenters is provided in Appendix A to
this study. A summary of the public roundtable discussions is presented in Section IV and a list
of roundtable participants is provided in Appendix B to this study.

4, Structure of this Study
The remainder of this introductory section contains the following subsections:

e Subsection B presents a short primer summarizing the financial reporting framework,
including the basic accounting concepts necessary to understand the issues discussed in this
study. Those who are familiar with the financial reporting framework may skip this
subsection of the study with no loss of continuity.

e Subsection C presents other considerations, namely the role of accounting in prudential
oversight and international developments, which necessitate consideration throughout this
study.

e Subsection D presents background information on fair value accounting, including the
definition of fair value, information about the application of fair value accounting, a
historical context for mark-to-market or fair value accounting, and information about other
measurement bases used in accounting.

The remainder of this study is generally arranged according to the order of the sections in the
legislative mandate, with one exception to facilitate organization: the section describing
“Alternatives to Fair Value Accounting Standards” appears before the section describing
“Advisability and Feasibility of Modifications to Fair Value Accounting Standards.”
Specifically:

o Section Il of this study is “Effects of Fair VValue Accounting Standards on Financial
Institutions’ Balance Sheets.” This section examines the balance sheets of a sample of public
financial institutions to analyze total assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value
and the extent to which changes in fair value impacted those institutions’ income statements.

e Section Il of this study is “Impact of Fair Value Accounting on Bank Failures in 2008.”
This section examines the extent to which public and non-public failed banks applied fair

19 See SEC Release No. 33-8975 (October 8, 2008), SEC Study of Mark to Market Accounting Request for Public
Comment.

0 Commission roundtables took place on July 9, 2008 (International Roundtable on Fair Value Accounting
Standards), October 29, 2008 (Roundtable on Mark-to-Market Accounting), and November 21, 2008 (Mark-to-
Market Accounting Roundtable). (Archived webcasts are available at: http://www.sec.gov/spotlight/fairvalue.htm.)
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value accounting and whether fair value accounting contributed significantly to their failures.
This section also discusses the impact of fair value accounting on other distressed financial
institutions.

e Section IV of this study is “Impact of Fair Value Accounting on the Quality of Financial
Information Available to Investors.” This section discusses the views of investors and other
financial statement users on the role of fair value accounting and whether it enhances or
impairs their understanding of financial information.

e Section V of this study is “Process Used by the FASB in Developing Accounting Standards.”
This section discusses the FASB governance and processes that result in the accounting
standards U.S. public companies apply.

e Section VI of this study is “Alternatives to Fair Value Accounting Standards.” This section
examines the potential impact of a suspension of SFAS No. 157 and recent proposals
regarding alternatives to fair value accounting.

e Section VII of this study is “Advisability and Feasibility of Modifications to Fair Value
Accounting Standards.” This section outlines current actions taken and projects in process to
address and improve existing fair value accounting standards. Further, this section draws
upon the analysis and findings of the previous sections of this study and develops a list of
recommendations of additional measures to improve fair value accounting and the
accounting for financial asset impairments.

B.  The Financial Reporting Framework®

The objective of financial reporting is to provide information useful to investors and creditors in
their decision-making processes.?> The Commission has responsibilities under the federal
securities laws to specify acceptable standards for the preparation of financial statements that
provide this financial information.?® The Commission has, for virtually its entire existence,
looked to the private sector for assistance in this task. Currently, the body that the Commission
looks to for the setting of financial reporting standards for U.S. issuers is the FASB.%* The
FASB has promulgated accounting standards in many areas and has also created a conceptual

21 parts of this section are excerpted, with modifications, from SEC Staff, Report and Recommendations Pursuant to
Section 401(c) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 On Arrangements with Off-Balance Sheet Implications, Special
Purpose Entities, and Transparency of Filings by Issuers, (“Off-Balance Sheet Report”). (This report is available at:
http://www.sec.gov/news/studies/soxoffbalancerpt.pdf.)

22 See Statement of Financial Accounting Concept (“SFAC”) No. 1, Objectives of Financial Reporting by Business
Enterprises (“SFAC No. 1), paragraph 32.

2% See, e.g., Sections 7, 19(a) and Schedule A, Items (25) and (26) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities
Act”), 15 U.S.C. 77g, 77s(a), 77aa(25) and (26); Sections 3(b), 12(b) and 13(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. 78c(b), 78I(b) and 78m(b); and Sections 8, 30(e), 31 and 38(a) of the
Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C. 80a-8, 80a-29(e), 80a-30 and 80a-37(a).

2 See SEC Release No. 33-8221 (April 25, 2003), Policy Statement: Reaffirming the Status of the FASB as a
Designated Private-Sector Standard Setter (“2003 Policy Statement™).
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framework for accounting and financial reporting that it uses in setting accounting standards.
However, despite the Commission’s recognition of the FASB’s financial accounting and
reporting standards as “generally accepted” for purposes of the federal securities laws, the
Commission retains the authority to require U.S. issuers to apply accounting other than that set
by the FASB to ensure compliance with the securities laws and the protection of investors.?

Filings by issuers include four main financial statements: the balance sheet, the income
statement, the cash flow statement, and the statement of changes in equity.?*® Each financial
statement provides different types of information, but they are interrelated in that they “reflect
different aspects of the same transactions or other events affecting an entity,” as well as
complementary in that “none is likely to serve only a single purpose or provide all the financial
statement information that is useful for a particular kind of assessment or decision.”?” A
complete set of financial statements also includes notes, which disclose quantitative and
qualitative information not in the basic four financial statements. Public filings also generally
require the inclusion of additional information, including information about the company’s
business, the risk factors it faces, and a discussion of its financial condition, results of operations,
liquidity, and capital resources.

1. Balance Sheet

Given the topic of this study, the Staff’s primary focus is on the balance sheet and the income
statement. The balance sheet portrays an issuer’s financial position at a point in time. Its basic
components include:

e Assets, which are “probable future economic benefits obtained or controlled by a particular
entity as a result of past transactions or events;”*®

e Liabilities, which are “probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from present
obligations of a particular entity to transfer assets or provide services to other entities in the
future as a result of past transactions or events;”* and

e Equity, which is “the residual interests in the assets of an entity that remains after deducting
its liabilities.”*

Under current accounting standards in the U.S., the items that are recorded on the balance sheet
are valued or measured using different measurement bases or attributes. This use of different

% See, e.g., Sections 3(c) and 108(c) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), 15 U.S.C.
7202(c) and 7218(c).

% See SFAC No. 5, Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises (“SFAC No. 57),
paragraphs 39-41 and 55-57.

2" SFAC No. 5, paragraph 23; see also paragraph 24.

8 SFAC No. 6, Elements of Financial Statements (“SFAC No. 6”), paragraph 25.
% |bid., paragraph 35.

% Ibid., paragraph 49.

16



measurement attributes is often referred to as the “mixed-attribute model.” Under the current
mixed-attribute model, the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities are reflected in the
balance sheet at historical cost, some at fair value, and some at other bases, such as lower-of-
cost-or-fair-value. Financial accounting standards in the U.S. establish the basis on which items
reported in the balance sheet should be measured. Section I.D of this study more fully describes
measurement bases that the FASB considers in setting standards.

Measurement using historical cost can be done in several ways, but the general concept is to
record items on the balance sheet using the original amount paid or received, with or without
adjustments in subsequent periods for depreciation, amortization, or impairment. Accordingly,
one historical cost measure is not necessarily comparable to another historical cost measure due
to differences in when the historical cost was measured and the individual amount paid or
received, as well as differences in depreciation, amortization, and impairment techniques or
requirements.

Fair value measurement is defined by SFAS No. 157. Prior to the issuance of SFAS No. 157 in
2006, “fair value” was defined or described in various accounting standards that prescribe its use,
but the definition of fair value, and its application, were not necessarily consistent across
standards.®* SFAS No. 157 now provides a standardized definition of fair value. Section I.D of
this study further explains the definition of fair value provided in SFAS No. 157. Other
measurement bases, such as lower-of-cost-or-fair-value, are described or explained in the
accounting standards in which they are used.®* In connection with a current joint project to
improve upon their respective conceptual frameworks, the Boards are focusing on measurement
bases that are appropriate for future standard-setting. Rather than referring to “historical cost”
versus “fair value,” the Boards are focusing on nine measurement bases that are related to either
past, present or future prices or amounts. The Boards’ work is discussed further in Sections I.D
and V1.B of this study.

2. Income Statement

The income statement reflects the issuer’s revenues and expenses, gains and losses, and, thus, is
intended to capture “the extent to which and the ways in which the equity of an entity increased
or decreased from all sources other than transactions with owners during a period.”** Over the
years, there has been tremendous controversy about what should be reported in the income
statement. In large part, the controversy can be traced to the fact that net income (often
expressed as a per share measure) often receives more focus than other measures in evaluating
performance. As such, a decision or proposal to change accounting standards in a way that
would result in more volatility being reported in income has often prompted controversy.

% See SFAS No. 157, Reasons for Issuing this Statement.
%2 See, e.g., SFAS No. 65, Accounting for Certain Mortgage Banking Activities (“SFAS No. 65™), paragraphs 9-10.

¥ SFAC No. 5, paragraph 30. There are several transactions that meet the criteria to be included in the income
statement, but have nonetheless been excluded from net income, and are instead categorized as OCI.
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Due to the complementary and integrated nature of the balance sheet and income statement,
choosing the accounting treatment for one statement has implications for the other.** One of the
most critical and timely examples relates to standards that require the recognition of more assets
and liabilities on the balance sheet at their fair values. For some assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value on the balance sheet, unrealized changes (gains and losses) in fair value
from period to period impact net income, while, for other assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value, unrealized changes in fair value do not impact net income, but instead are recorded
through the equity section of the balance sheet by way of an accounting construct referred to as
OCI. Unrealized gains and losses related to assets and liabilities are those that occur while an
issuer holds the asset or liability, as opposed to realized gains and losses that generally occur
when an asset or liability is sold or settled.

Proponents of the “all inclusive” approach to defining net income contend that it is appropriate to
include both realized and unrealized gains and losses in net income because this information
enables users to better predict future income or cash flows. However, others point out that
recording unrealized gains and losses in the income statement may lead to increased income
volatility, which they believe results in lower predictability of future income or cash flows. As
noted above, the alternative to reporting unrealized gains and losses as part of net income is to
report these changes in OCI, which most often appears in the statement of changes in equity,*
until the gain or loss is realized generally through sale of the asset or settlement of the liability.

3. Other Basic Financial Statements

The other two basic financial statements describe, each in their own way, the changes in various
balance sheet items from one period to the next.

The statement of changes in equity reflects the ways in which assets and liabilities have changed
due to transactions with owners during the period, such as declarations of dividends, issuances of
stock and options, exchanges of shares in mergers and acquisitions, and items that are classified
outside of the measurement of net income (i.e., OCI, as discussed above).

The cash flow statement reflects an entity’s cash receipts classified by major sources and its cash
payments classified by major uses during a period. This statement groups the inflows and
outflows of cash into three broad categories: operating cash flows, investing cash flows, and
financing cash flows.

Operating cash flows include: cash received from customers; cash spent on materials and labor;
cash paid for utilities, insurance, compensation and benefits; and many other types of operating
items. The other two sections of the cash flow statement report investing cash flows and
financing cash flows. Investing cash flows include: cash inflows and outflows related to

* Historically, the relative focus of standard-setters on the balance sheet versus the income statement (or vice versa)
has varied. The balance sheet was emphasized in the early part of the 20th Century (and before), in part because
creditors had little reliable information available to them. Liquidation values and conservatism were of central
importance. By the late 1930s, the focus shifted to a shareholder orientation, the income statement and value in use
rather than liquidation value. See Elden S. Hendriksen, Accounting Theory, 257 (4" ed. 1982).

* The statement of changes in equity is discussed further in Section 1.B.3.
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purchases or sales of property, plant, and equipment; investments in equity or debt of other
entities; and other types of investments. Financing cash flows include: cash inflows from raising
capital through issuing stock or debt, cash outflows to repay mortgages and other liabilities, cash
paid for dividends, and the like.

4, Notes to the Financial Statements, Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and Other
Disclosures

The basic financial statements alone cannot reasonably be expected to provide sufficient
information for investment decisions. The FASB’s concept statements note that “[s]Jome useful
information is better provided by financial statements and some is better provided, or can only be
provided, by notes to financial statements or by supplementary information or other means of
financial reporting.”® These disclosures in the notes to the financial statements are intended to
provide information that the four main financial statements cannot (or do not) provide.

In addition, although the notes provide much information that is not provided in the basic
financial statements, they generally do not provide an explanation of the business activities
underlying the numbers. Recognizing that such information may be as important to investors as
the information in the financial statements and notes, the Commission requires issuers to include
a management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations
(“MD&A”) section in many filings. MD&A requires a discussion of known trends, demands,
commitments, uncertainties, and events that are reasonably likely to materially affect the issuer’s
financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity, as well as other information that provides
context to the financial statements. As noted in Financial Reporting Release 67:

The disclosure in MD&A is of paramount importance in increasing the
transparency of a company's financial performance and providing investors with
the disclosure necessary to evaluate a company and to make informed investment
decisions. MD&A also provides a unique opportunity for management to provide
investors with an understanding of its view of the financial performance and
condition of the company, an appreciation of what the financial statements show
and do not show, as well as important trends and risks that have shaped the past or
are reasonably likely to shape the future.*’

Because of the importance of the notes to the financial statements and other disclosures,
including MD&A, in providing information that is not provided by the basic financial statements
themselves, questions of whether items should or should not be included on the balance sheet
and income statement and whether sufficient transparency in reporting has been achieved must
be assessed in light of the presence and role of these other reporting tools.

% SFAC No. 5, paragraph 7.

%" SEC Release No. 33-8182 (January 28, 2003), Disclosure in Management's Discussion and Analysis about Off-
Balance Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate Contractual Obligations.
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C. Other Considerations
1. Role of Accounting in Prudential Oversight

Financial information is also used in prudential oversight. The primary objective of prudential
oversight is to foster safety and soundness and financial stability.*® For prudential oversight
purposes, regulatory capital requirements for banks in the U.S. start with financial information
provided in accordance with U.S. GAAP. However, in certain instances, the effects of U.S.
GAAP accounting are adjusted, thereby reflecting the important differences between the
objectives of U.S. GAAP reporting and the objectives of U.S. bank regulatory capital
requirements. These adjustments are discussed in greater detail in Section I11.D.

Consistent with the Act’s mandate, the focus of this study is on financial reporting for investors,
rather than prudential supervisors. However, because of the role of prudential oversight in bank
failures and the existing relationship between U.S. GAAP and regulatory capital, where relevant,
this study also discusses such considerations.

2. International Considerations

As mandated by the Act, this study principally focuses on fair value accounting in the context of
U.S. companies reporting under U.S. GAAP. However, developments over the past few years
necessitate consideration of the international financial reporting landscape.

First, on a global basis, the number of companies that report under IFRS has increased
substantially. In 2002, the European Union (“E.U.”) adopted a regulation requiring its listed
companies to report under IFRS by 2005.%° Since then, other countries have followed suit.
Approximately 113 countries around the world currently require or permit IFRS reporting for
domestic, listed companies, including the E.U., Australia, and Israel.*® The market capitalization
of exchange listed companies in the E.U., Australia, and Israel totals $11 trillion (or
approximately 26% of global market capitalization), and the market capitalization from those
countries plus Brazil and Canada, both of which have announced plans to move to IFRS, totals
$13.4 trillion (or approximately 31% of global market capitalization).*

Second, the Boards have made concerted efforts to converge U.S. GAAP and IFRS to minimize
or eliminate differences in the two bodies of accounting literature. This process began with the
signing of the “Norwalk Agreement” by the Boards in October 2002.* In this agreement, the

% See Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, Core Principles for Effective Banking Supervision (October 2006).

% See Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union of 19
July 2002 on the Application of International Accounting Standards, Official Journal L. 243, November 9, 2002, at
pages 0001-0004.

%0 See SEC Release No. 33-8982 (November 14, 2008), Roadmap for the Potential Use of Financial Statements
Prepared in Accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards by U.S. Issuers (“Proposed Roadmap”).

41 M

%2 See the Boards, Memorandum of Understanding, “The Norwalk Agreement,” (September 18, 2002) (the
“Norwalk Agreement”). (available at: http://www.fasb.org/news/memorandum.pdf) For further details, see IASB,
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Boards acknowledged their joint commitment to convergence. They also pledged to use their
best efforts to develop, “as soon as practicable,” high quality, compatible accounting standards
that could be used for both domestic and cross-border financial reporting. Most recently, in
September 2008, the Boards issued a progress report and a timetable for the completion of joint
major projects by 2011 in areas such as financial statement presentation, revenue recognition,
lease accounting, liabilities and equity distinctions, consolidation accounting, and pension and
post-retirement benefit accounting.*?

The Commission recognizes the increasingly global nature of the capital markets and has long
expressed its support for a single set of high-quality global accounting standards to benefit both
U.S. and global capital markets and U.S. and foreign investors by facilitating comparison of
financial information.** To further this goal, the SEC has taken the following steps:

e In December 2007, the SEC published rules to accept from foreign private issuers in their
filings with the Commission, financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as
issued by the IASB without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP.*

e In November 2008, the Commission published for comment a proposed roadmap for the
potential use of financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB
by U.S. issuers for purposes of their filings with the Commission.*® This proposed roadmap
sets forth seven milestones that, if achieved, could lead to the required use of IFRS by U.S.
issuers in 2014 if the Commission believes it to be in the public interest and for the
protection of investors. In addition, the Commission also proposed to permit early use of
IFRS, beginning with filings in 2010, by a limited number of U.S. issuers where this would
enhance the comparability of financial information to investors.

In light of these developments, the U.S. standard-setting process and changes to U.S. GAAP are
intertwined with those abroad. Accordingly, where relevant, this study includes discussion of
international considerations and events. For example, Section 1.D of this study provides
information about fair value accounting under IFRS, while Section V11 discusses the accounting
developments in response to the current global economic crisis from a global perspective and
recommends modifications that should be coordinated with the IASB, as well as national and
regional securities regulators.

A Roadmap for Convergence between IFRSs and US GAAP—2006-2008, Memorandum of Understanding between
the FASB and the IASB, February 27, 2006. (available at: http://www.iasb.org/NR/rdonlyres/874B63FB-56DB-
4B78-B7AF-49BBA18C98D9/0/MoU.pdf)

“% See the Boards’ update to the 2006 Memorandum of Understanding, Completing the February 2006 Memorandum
of Understanding: A Progress Report and Timetable for Completion, September 2008. (available at:
http://www.fash.org/intl/MOU_09-11-08.pdf)

* See, e.g., SEC Release No. 33-6807 (November 14, 1988), Regulation of International Securities Markets.

** See SEC Release No. 33-8879 (December 21, 2007), Acceptance from Foreign Private Issuers of Financial
Statements Prepared in Accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards without Reconciliation to U.S.
GAAP.

“® See Proposed Roadmap.
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D. Background Information on Fair Value Accounting

The purpose of this section is to provide an understanding of the definition of fair value in
accounting, the application of fair value accounting, a historical context for fair value
accounting, and information about other measurement bases used in accounting.

1. Definition of Fair Value
a. U.S. GAAP

As previously mentioned, fair value measurement is defined by SFAS No. 157, which was issued
in 2006. SFAS No. 157 became effective at the beginning of 2008 for all reporting entities, with
early adoption permitted.*’ Prior to the issuance of SFAS No. 157, fair value measurement
principles were not consistently defined and codified in a single accounting standard, which led
to the potential for disparate fair value measurement practices under different accounting
standards. SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value,
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.”® Accordingly, SFAS No. 157 was
issued to provide a single set of measurement principles to be uniformly applied for fair value
measurement when U.S. GAAP requires or permits reporting entities to measure and / or disclose
the fair value of an asset or a liability. Importantly, SFAS No. 157 did not change which assets
and liabilities are subject to fair value accounting or when fair value should be applied. As noted
in Section 1.D.2 of this study, other previously existing accounting standards provide the
requirement or permission to measure assets and liabilities at fair value.

SFAS No. 157 defines “fair value” as follows:

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.*®

Key principles underpinning the definition of fair value under SFAS No. 157 are as follows:
e Fair value is based upon an exchange price. Specifically, SFAS No. 157 highlights that the
concept of fair value is based on an exit price notion (the price to be received on sale of an

asset or price to be paid to transfer a liability) from a hypothetical exchange transaction.

e The exchange price is the price in an orderly transaction which allows for due diligence, and
is not from a distressed sale or a forced transaction.

" SFAS No. 157 was effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007,
and interim periods within those fiscal years. Delayed application was permitted for non-financial assets and non-
financial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a
recurring basis (at least annually), until fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim periods within
those fiscal years. See SFAS No. 157, paragraph 36.

*8 See SFAS No. 157, paragraph 1.
* SFAS No. 157, paragraph 5.
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e Fair value measurement assumes that the asset is sold in its principal market or, in the
absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market.

e Fair value is determined based on the assumptions that market participants®® would use in
pricing the asset or liability. A fair value measurement should include an adjustment for risk
if market participants would include one in pricing the related asset or liability, even if the
adjustment is difficult to determine.

e Company-specific information should be factored into fair value measurement when relevant
information is not observable in the market.>*

e SFAS No. 157 provides a hierarchy for inputs used in fair value measurement based on the
degree to which the inputs are observable in the market. Level 1 in the hierarchy includes
inputs that are based on quoted prices in active markets for the identical asset or liability
(“Level 1”). Level 2 includes quoted prices of similar instruments in active markets, quoted
prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets, and observable market
information on valuation parameters or market-corroborated information (“Level 2”), and
Level 3 represents measurements that incorporate significant unobservable inputs that reflect
the reporting entity’s own assumptions regarding valuation parameters that market
participants would use (“Level 3”). Valuation techniques used to measure fair values should
maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
When Level 1 inputs are available, those inputs should generally be used.

e Companies measuring the fair value of their own liabilities should incorporate the effect of
their credit risk (credit standing) on the fair value of their liabilities. For example, declines in
a company’s own creditworthiness will generally result in a decrease in the fair value of the
company’s own liabilities, all else being equal.

b. IFRS
Currently, under IFRS, “guidance on measuring fair value is dispersed throughout [IFRS] and is
not always consistent.” However, as discussed in Section VI1.B, the IASB is developing an

exposure draft on fair value measurement guidance.

IFRS generally defines fair value as “the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a
liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction” (with

%0 Market participants are knowledgeable and informed buyers and sellers in the relevant market, who are
independent of the reporting entity and are able and willing to transact for the asset or liability that is subject to fair
value measurement. See SFAS No. 157, paragraphs 10-11.

*! Company-specific information factored into fair value measurement should reflect the company’s expectation
regarding market participant assumptions.

%2 | ASB Discussion Paper, Fair Value Measurements, Part | — Invitation to Comment and Relevant IFRS Guidance
(November 2006) (“Fair Value Discussion Paper”), paragraph 6.
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some slight variations in wording in different standards).>® While this definition is generally
consistent with SFAS No. 157, it is not fully converged in the following respects:

e The definition in SFAS No. 157 is explicitly an exit price, whereas the definition in IFRS is
neither explicitly an exit price nor an entry price.

e SFAS No. 157 explicitly refers to market participants, which is defined by the standard,
whereas IFRS simply refers to knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

e For liabilities, the definition of fair value in SFAS No. 157 rests on the notion that the
liability is transferred (the liability to the counterparty continues), whereas the definition in
IFRS refers to the amount at which a liability could be settled.>*

2. Application of Fair Value Accounting

Under both U.S. GAAP and IFRS, fair value is most prevalently used to measure “financial”
assets and liabilities,” as opposed to “non-financial” assets and liabilities, such as property or
intangible assets. Financial assets and liabilities include, but are not limited to, investment
securities, derivative instruments, loans and other receivables, notes and other payables, and debt
instruments issued. Not all of these financial assets and liabilities are required to be measured at
fair value; some are permitted to be measured at fair value because of provisions that generally
permit an entity to elect fair value accounting for financial assets and liabilities. As noted in
Section 1.B.2, for those assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value, some have
unrealized changes in fair value recognized through income and some have unrealized changes
in fair value recognized in OCI in the equity section of the balance sheet.

Fair value measurements that are required on a quarterly basis (or each reporting period) are
often referred to as “recurring,” while fair value measurements that are required only if assets are
considered impaired are considered to be “non-recurring.” Recurring fair value measurements
apply to certain classes of investment securities and derivatives instruments, among other items.
Non-recurring fair value measurements apply to various types of assets, both financial and non-
financial, that are required to be tested for impairment in their value and, if impaired, are
required to have their carrying amounts written down to fair value.

The discussion below further explains how fair value accounting impacts both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities under U.S. GAAP and, as a comparison, highlights the more

53 m
> See Ibid.

% Under U.S. GAAP, a financial asset is defined as “[c]ash, evidence of an ownership interest in an entity, or a
contract that conveys to one entity a right (1) to receive cash or another financial instrument from a second entity or
(2) to exchange other financial instruments on potentially favorable terms with the second entity.” A financial
liability is defined as “[a] contract that imposes on one entity an obligation (1) to deliver cash or another financial
instrument to a second entity or (2) to exchange other financial instruments on potentially unfavorable terms with
the second entity” (SFAS No. 159, paragraph 6). The definition of financial assets and financial liabilities under
IFRS is substantially converged to U.S. GAAP (International Accounting Standard (“IAS™) 32, Financial
Instruments: Presentation, paragraph 11).
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significant differences in the treatment under IFRS. Others have pointed out the complexity of
the current accounting requirements.

a. How Fair Value Impacts Accounting for Financial Instruments
I. U.S. GAAP

This section provides further information about different types of financial instruments and the
extent to which fair value measurement is applied to those instruments. The extent to which U.S.
GAAP requires financial instruments to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognized in income generally depends on the characteristics of the financial instrument, the
legal form, and how the company intends to use the financial instrument. Measurement of
financial instruments at fair value is also determined in some circumstances by the industry in
which the reporting entity operates. For certain specialized industries like brokers and dealers in
securities and investment companies (including mutual funds), fair value measurement has long
been used for financial instruments.”’

To the extent that financial assets are not measured at fair value each reporting period through
income, companies are required to assess whether those financial assets are impaired.
Impairment accounting can be complex, as there are different definitions of impairment and
different impairment tests for different types of financial assets. Impairment accounting is
summarized at the end of this subsection.

Equity Securities

Investments in equity securities (e.g., an investment in common stock) may be accounted for in a
number of different ways. Equity investments that provide a company with controlling financial
interest generally result in the consolidation of the investee, such that the investee’s underlying
assets and liabilities are accounted for based on their nature (e.g., cash, investments, property,
and debt).”® For example, an entity that owns 80% of the equity securities of another entity and
has voting control would consolidate the accounts of the controlled entity.

Investments in equity securities of an entity over which a company has significant influence are
presented on one line and accounted under the “equity method.” Equity method accounting is
often viewed as a form of historical cost accounting in which the pro rata share of the operations
of the investment is reflected in a “one line” consolidation of the books of the investee. These
equity method investments are also subject to write-downs to fair value, but only when the

% See, e.g., IASB Discussion Paper, Reducing Complexity in Reporting Financial Instruments (March 2008), and
Final Report of CIFiR (August 1, 2008) (“CIFiR Final Report”). (available at:
http://www.sec.gov/about/offices/oca/acifr/acifr-finalreport.pdf)

*" See American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) Audit and Accounting Guide — Brokers and
Dealers in Securities, Chapter 7, paragraph 2 (with conforming changes as of May 1, 2007), and Section 2(a)(41) of
the Investment Company Act.

%8 See Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements.
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impairment is other-than-temporary.>® Alternatively, a company has the option to measure
equity method investments at fair value, as discussed in further detail below.*

All other investments in equity securities for which fair value is readily determinable are
measured at fair value. However, changes in fair value may be recognized either in income or in
OCI, based on an election made by management. Changes in the fair value of securities that
management has classified as trading are required to be recognized in income each period.
Changes in the fair value of securities that management has classified as AFS, which represent
all other equity securities, are required to be recognized in OCI each period, until the investment
is ultimately sold or impairment in the security is determined to be other-than-temporary.®

It is possible to transfer equity securities into or out of the trading classification; however, U.S.
GAAP indicates that such circumstances should be rare.

Equity securities for which fair value is not readily determinable are generally measured at cost,
with adjustments only made when the decline in the estimated fair value below cost is considered
other-than-temporary.®

Debt Securities

Investments in debt securities may also be accounted for in a number of different ways.®?
Investments classified as trading are required to be measured at fair value each period, with all
changes in fair value recognized in income each period. In rare circumstances, companies can
reclassify debt securities into or out of the trading classification.

Debt securities that a company purchases with the strict intent and ability to hold until maturity
may be designated as held-to-maturity (“HTM?”). In limited circumstances, companies can sell
HTM debt securities or transfer those securities out of the HTM classification. HTM securities
are recorded on the balance sheet at amortized cost. Declines in fair value are not reported in the
balance sheet or income statement, except when the security value is impaired (the carrying
amount is above fair value) and the impairment is determined to be other-than-temporary.

Investments that a company does not choose to designate as trading or HTM are classified as
AFS. AFS securities are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value; however, unrealized

% See Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 18, The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in
Common Stock.

% See SFAS No. 159.
61 See SFAS No. 115.

62 See FSP FAS No. 115-1 / 124-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to
Certain Investments (“FSP FAS 115-1/ 124-1").

%% See SFAS No. 115; Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 99-20, Recognition of Interest Income and
Impairment on Purchased Beneficial Interests and Beneficial Interests That Continue to Be Held by a Transferor in
Securitized Financial Assets (“EITF Issue No. 99-20”); SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies (“SFAS No. 5”);
SFAS No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan (“SFAS No. 114”); Statement of Position
(“SOP”) 03-3, Accounting for Certain Loans or Debt Securities Acquired in a Transfer (“SOP 03-3”).
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changes in fair value are generally not recorded in the income statement. Rather, changes in the
fair value of AFS securities are required to be recognized in OCI each period, until the
investment is ultimately sold or impairment in the security is determined to be other-than-
temporary. Reclassifications from AFS to HTM are permitted, provided that the company has
the positive intent and ability to hold the security to maturity.

Securitized Assets

Some assets undergo a process, referred to as securitization, by which the assets are transformed
into securities.** While both financial and non-financial assets can be securitized, it is more
commonly observed for financial assets. In a typical securitization, a company transfers a
portfolio of financial assets, such as mortgage loans, automobile loans, student loans, credit card
receivables, or other assets, into a trust or other form of “special purpose entity.” The special
purpose entity then issues interests in the underlying assets to investors. The interests are often
issued in different classes, with different risks and payoffs for the investors.®> A holder of an
interest in a securitization would follow the accounting requirements for either debt or equity
securities depending on the characteristics of the interest held.

One unique aspect of accounting for interests in securitized financial assets is the accounting for
impairment (summarized at the end of this subsection).

Direct Investments in Loans

The accounting for a direct investment in a loan (as opposed to a debt security) varies based on
whether the loan is held-for-investment (“HFI”’) or held-for-sale (“HFS”). Generally, HFI loans
are accounted for at amortized cost, with impairment recognized only for probable credit losses.
Recognition of probable credit losses differs significantly from fair value losses in that the
measurement of loss incorporates only expected delays in the timing and amount of expected
cash flows that are due to events that have been incurred as of the measurement date (incurred
credit losses).

HFS loans (e.g., loans made with the intent to package and securitize) are reported at the lower-
of-cost-or-fair-value, with declines in fair value recognized in income.®® Losses recognized for
declines in the fair value of loans include the impact of all market factors, including changes in
expected cash flows, risk premiums, and liquidity.

Companies can transfer loans into or out of the HFS classification as a result of changes in
intentions regarding whether the loans will be sold or HFI.

Alternatively, a company may elect to measure its loans at fair value, as discussed further below,
regardless of whether they are HFI or HFS.®

% See SFAS No. 140, Glossary.

% See Ibid., paragraphs 73-75.

% See SFAS No. 65; SFAS No. 5; SFAS No. 114; and SOP 03-3.
%7 See SFAS No. 159.
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Derivative Assets and Liabilities

Derivatives, as defined in SFAS No. 133 and related guidance, are required to be reported on a
company’s balance sheet at fair value. The basis for conclusions in SFAS No. 133 states that:

The Board believes fair value is the only relevant measurement attribute for derivatives.
Amortized cost is not a relevant measure for derivatives because the historical cost of a
derivative often is zero, yet a derivative generally can be settled or sold at any time for an
amount equivalent to its fair value.®

Common types of financial instruments that are accounted for as derivatives include interest rate,
commaodity, foreign exchange, and credit-default swap and forward contracts.

SFAS No. 133 also provides special accounting treatment for derivatives that are designated and
qualify as hedges. Changes in the fair value (unrealized gains and losses) of derivative contracts
that are not designated as a hedge are recorded directly in income. For derivatives that are
designated as hedges of future cash flows (“cash flow hedges™), the changes in the fair value of
those derivatives are not immediately recorded in income. Rather, changes in fair value are
initially recorded in the accumulated OCI section of the shareholder’s equity portion of the
balance sheet and then reclassified into income when the related cash flows (the cash flows being
hedged) impact income. For derivatives that are designated as hedges of changes in the fair
value of a recognized asset or liability (“fair value hedges”), changes in the fair value of the
derivative, together with the offsetting change in the fair value of the hedged item, are
recognized immediately in income. Thus, to the extent that the hedge is effective, the impact in
income is offset.

Other Financial Liabilities

Currently, U.S. GAAP generally only requires derivative liabilities to be measured on a recurring
basis at fair value. However, SFAS No. 159 provides companies with an option to elect to fair
value certain financial liabilities, as discussed further below.

As fair value is defined in SFAS No. 157, if an entity elects fair value (or, in the case of
derivative liabilities, fair value is required), the fair value is measured based on a transfer notion
as opposed to a settlement notion. That is, the fair value of a liability is based on how much it
would cost a company to pay another market participant to assume its liability. The non-
performance risk (the risk of borrower default) should be the same before and after the transfer.
This measurement requires companies to include changes in creditworthiness of the borrower in
the fair value of the liability. A decline in the creditworthiness of a company results in the
recognition of a gain in the income statement as the fair value of the liability declines.

% SFAS No. 133, paragraph 223.
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Fair Value Option

In recent years, the FASB has included a “fair value option” (“FVQO?”) in several standards, which
permits, but does not require, reporting entities to make elections to measure certain assets and /
or liabilities at fair value. In 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155 and SFAS No. 156. Both of
these standards permit fair value elections in certain circumstances.®® 1n 2007, the FASB issued
SFAS No. 159. SFAS No. 159 expanded the ability of reporting entities to elect fair value
measurement for most financial assets and liabilities, with unrealized changes in fair value
reported in earnings and thereby impacting net income. The FASB stated the objective of SFAS
No. 159 as follows:

This Statement permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments
and certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured
at fair value. The objective is to improve financial reporting by providing entities
with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by
measuring related assets and liabilities differently without having to apply
complex hedge accounting provisions. This Statement is expected to expand the
use of fair value measurement, which is consistent with the Board’s long-term
measurement objectives for accounting for financial instruments. In addition, it is
similar to a measurement choice permitted in International Financial Reporting
Standards.”

While SFAS No. 159 provides an “option,” the FASB set parameters around application of the
FVO. A reporting entity’s decision about whether to elect the FVO: (1) is applied on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, with certain limited exceptions, (2) is irrevocable (once selected
for an individual instrument) and therefore cannot be changed subsequent to election, and (3) is
applied only to an entire instrument and not to only specified risks, specific cash flows, or a
portion of that instrument.”" When specifying that the FVO may be elected on an instrument by
instrument basis, the FASB noted that the option may be elected for a single eligible item
without electing it for other identical items, with certain limited exceptions.”

SFAS No. 159 became effective at the beginning of 2008 for calendar-year entities, with early
adoption allowed in 2007 in certain circumstances.”® Reporting entities could elect the FVO for

% SFAS No. 155 permits fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded
derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation. SFAS No. 156 permits an entity to elect to subsequently
measure its servicing assets and servicing liabilities at fair value, by class.

" SFAS No. 159, paragraph 1.
™ See SFAS No. 159, paragraph 5.

72 See SFAS No. 159, paragraph 12. The exceptions involve multiple advances made to one borrower pursuant to a
single contract; investments that would otherwise be accounted for under the equity method of accounting; eligible
instruments or reinsurance contracts; and insurance contracts with integrated or nonintegrated contract features or
coverages.

" SFAS No. 159 became effective as of the beginning of each reporting entity’s first fiscal year that began after
November 15, 2007. See SFAS No. 159, paragraph 24. An entity was permitted to adopt the standard and elect the
FVO for existing eligible items as of the beginning of a fiscal year that begins on or before November 15, 2007. See
SFAS No. 159, paragraph 30.

29



individual financial instruments that existed upon initial adoption of SFAS No. 159 and for new
financial instruments when acquired.

Impairments

The accounting for impairments of financial assets not subject to mark-to-market accounting
developed over many years on a standard-by-standard basis and differs depending upon the
characteristics, form, and intended use of the financial asset. For example, an HFI loan is
generally impaired when it is probable that a creditor will be unable to collect all amounts due.’
Measurement of loan impairment is based on management’s estimate of incurred credit losses
and is accounted for using a valuation allowance, often referred to as an allowance for credit
losses, with changes in the estimated valuation allowance recognized in income. In contrast, a
debt or equity security is generally considered impaired when its carrying amount (generally
based on amortized cost) exceeds its fair value.” As noted earlier, fair value incorporates
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset, including those related to
general interest rates, credit spreads, and liquidity.

For impaired debt or equity securities, only impairments that are considered to be “other-than-
temporary” (referred to as “other-than-temporary impairment” or “OTTI”) result in a
remeasurement at current fair value, with the change in fair value recognized in income.
Judgment is required in assessing whether an OTTI exists. Some of the factors that companies
consider in evaluating whether an OTTI exists include: the length of the time and the extent to
which the fair value has been less than its carrying amount; the financial condition and prospects
of the issuer; and the intent and ability of the holder to retain its investment in the issuer for a
period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value.”® U.S. GAAP
generally mandates that subsequent to recording an impairment loss, further increases in the fair
value of an asset are not reflected in income until the asset is sold.

The current global economic crisis has highlighted difficulties in performing OTTI evaluations.”’
As required by SFAS No. 115, a company that classifies securities as either HTM or AFS must
determine whether a decline in fair value below the amortized-cost basis is other-than-temporary.
There are basically three steps in determining if a company is required to take an OTT]I charge to
income, including: (1) calculating the fair value of a security, (2) determining if a decline in fair
value is due to a credit related event, and (3) assessing whether or not the investor has the ability
and intent to hold the security until recovery. The current market environment has posed several
challenges for preparers as it relates to the calculation of the fair value of certain financial
instruments (e.g., certain Level 2 and Level 3 assets). Furthermore, preparers have struggled

™ See SFAS No. 114, paragraph 8.
" See SFAS No. 115, paragraph 16.

"® See Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 5M, Other Than Temporary Impairment of Certain Investments in Debt and
Equity Securities. See also FSP FAS 115-1/124-1.

" See, e.g., letters from ABA (November 13, 2008), MassMutual, Citi, CAQ, Nationwide, ACLI, and FHLBC.
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with the multiple models that exist to determine if a decline in fair value is other-than-
temporary.’

Under U.S. GAAP, a debt security is subject to an assessment of OTTI under SFAS No. 115
with a subset of debt securities (interests in securitized financial assets) requiring incremental
procedures under EITF Issue No. 99-20.” If a security is impaired for credit concerns utilizing
one of these models, the security is written down to current fair value and an expense is recorded
in the income statement. However, complexity exists regarding the determination of which
model should be utilized to determine if a credit-based impairment exists and the different
recognition thresholds required under each model.

In determining whether an impairment is other-than-temporary, EITF Issue No. 99-20 requires a
preparer to test for an adverse change in cash flows by using its best estimate of the cash flows
that a market participant would use in determining the fair value. In contrast, for securities not
within the scope of EITF Issue No. 99-20, there is no similar requirement to use a market
participant’s view. While on the surface this distinction may seem minor, EITF Issue No. 99-
20’s requirement to utilize market participant cash flows as compared to management’s own
internal estimates under SFAS No. 115, combined with the substantial decline in the fair value of
various securities in the current market environment, has resulted in substantial disparity in the
application of the models in practice and has reduced the comparability of financial statements.
To address these issues, on December 19, 2008, the FASB issued an exposure draft of FSP EITF
99-20-a, Amendments to the Impairment and Interest Income Measurement Guidance of EITF
99-20 (“FSP EITF 99-20-a”), that would remove the requirement to use market participant
assumptions for purposes of testing for OTTI.

Section VII.A of this study provides further information about recent FASB activities in this
area.

ii. IFRS

As it relates to the application and use of fair value, IFRS differs from U.S. GAAP in its
accounting for financial instruments most significantly in the following respects:

e IFRS does not distinguish between investments that are in the form of debt securities and
those that are investments in loans. Under IFRS, regardless of the form, investments in
obligations with fixed or determinable payments generally can be accounted for as loans, if

"8 See, e.g., letter from BDO Seidman, LLP to the FASB, dated November 17, 2008, as input to the FASB and
IASB’s November 25, 2008 Round Table Meeting on the Global Financial Crisis (available at:
http://72.3.243.42/board_handouts/11-25-08_Joint_FASB_IASB_Roundtable_Global_Financial_Crisis.pdf), which
states:

U.S. GAAP has four different impairment models for economically similar fixed income investments: FAS
5/FAS 114 for loans, SOP 03-3 for loans purchased with known deterioration in collectibility since origination,
EITF Issue 99-20 for retained interests in securitizations, and FAS 115 other-than-temporary impairment for
debt securities.

™ SOP 03-3 provides additional guidance regarding OTTI for acquired securities. The guidance in SOP 03-3
utilizes aspects of both SFAS No. 115 and EITF Issue No. 99-20.
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the investments do not trade in an active market and the holder does not intend to sell the
investment in the near term.2° Similar to U.S. GAAP, accounting for investments not
classified as loans is based on whether the investment is classified as trading, AFS, or HTM.

e Prior to recent IASB amendments in October 2008, IFRS had more restrictive requirements
than U.S. GAAP about transferring certain financial assets. Subsequent to these
amendments, which are retroactively effective to July 1, 2008, non-derivative financial assets
held for trading and AFS financial assets may be reclassified under IFRS in particular
situations,® as discussed in greater detail in Section VII.A.

e Under IFRS, the trigger for recognizing impairment differs from U.S. GAAP, resulting in the
potential for differences in the timing of when an impairment charge is recorded.

e Measurement of impairment losses differs under IFRS for HTM securities, which are written
down through income under both U.S. GAAP and IFRS. However, under U.S. GAAP, these
securities are written down to fair value; under IFRS, they are written down only for incurred
credit losses.

e |FRS has greater restrictions on the use of the option to elect fair value accounting.

b. How Fair Value Impacts Accounting for Non-Financial
Instruments

I. U.S. GAAP

Non-financial assets and liabilities generally are not accounted for at fair value on a recurring
basis. Currently, non-financial assets and liabilities are generally initially measured at their cost
or based upon proceeds received (which many would view to be generally in line with fair
value). In addition, U.S. GAAP provides for many non-financial assets to be written down to
their current value when those assets are determined to be impaired. If the fair value of those
assets subsequently increases, the assets are generally not marked up to the new fair value. A
description of U.S. GAAP requirements that include non-recurring fair value measurements for
non-financial assets and liabilities is provided below.

Business Combinations

SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations (“SFAS No. 141”), was issued in June 2001.%* Though
this standard provides guidance on how to account for business acquisitions, it is significant from
a fair value measurement standpoint because the acquirer is required to measure many of the

8 See |AS 39, as amended, paragraph 9.
8 See “IASB amendments permit reclassification of financial instruments,” IASB press release (October 13, 2008).

8 SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations (“SFAS No. 141R”), was issued and will be effective for companies in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. SFAS No. 141R supersedes SFAS No. 141 and further requires the
use of fair value by requiring that most assets and liabilities acquired in an acquisition be measured at fair value. It
also requires that any non-controlling interest in the acquiree be measured at fair value.
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assets and liabilities acquired in the business combination at fair value. However, there are many
exceptions under SFAS No. 141 to the use of fair value upon initial recognition. Accordingly,
while assets may be reported on a target’s books at historical cost, they are often remeasured to
fair value upon acquisition. SFAS No. 141 also requires the identification and recognition of
intangible assets at fair value. While SFAS No. 141 only requires fair value measurement on
acquisition (and not on a recurring basis subsequent to the acquisition), this statement indicates
the FASB’s view that fair value measurement is relevant not only for financial instruments, but
also for certain transactions such as business combinations and for non-financial assets such as
intangible assets that are acquired in such transactions.®

Goodwill

Although goodwill itself is not measured at fair value, it represents a residual amount after other
amounts on the balance sheet have been measured at the date of acquisition. Goodwill must be
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if certain triggering events occur. If the
carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the residual amount from recognizing all other assets and
liabilities on the balance sheet at the date of the impairment test, then goodwill must be written
down to this revised residual amount, with the loss recognized in income.*

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Like goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets are required to be tested for impairment annually
or more frequently if certain triggering events occur. If the carrying value of the indefinite-lived

intangible exceeds its fair value, it must be written down to the estimated fair value, with the loss
recognized in income.®

Other Long-Lived Assets

U.S. GAAP requires other long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment, and finite-
lived intangible assets, to be written down to fair value, in certain circumstances (e.g., when the
expected cash flows to be generated by an asset or group of assets are less than the carrying
value). In addition, long-lived assets held-for-sale must be written down to fair value less costs
to sell. These losses are recognized in income.®

ii. IFRS

IFRS differs from U.S. GAAP as it relates to the use of fair value for non-financial instruments
in two primary respects. First, IFRS provides a FVO for non-financial assets such as property,
plant, equipment, and investment property, but does not do so for mortgage servicing rights
(“MSRs”), as permitted under U.S. GAAP.®" Second, IFRS requires reversal of impairment

# See, e.g., SFAS No. 141, paragraph B171.

8 See SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.

8 gee Ibid.

% See SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS No. 144”).
8 See IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment; and IAS 40, Investment Property.
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losses (when and if the value of an asset recovers) on non-financial assets other than goodwill in
certain circumstances.®

3. Historical Context for Fair Value Accounting

Early-Twentieth Century through the Great Depression

Prior to the development of mandatory accounting standards following the Great Depression,
companies had significant latitude in selecting their own accounting practices and policies.
There is evidence that the use of “current values” or “appraised values” for assets, and the
recording of upward asset revaluations, were common in the early-twentieth century in the
period prior to the Depression. During this period, balance sheets often included upward
revaluations of long-term assets such as property, plant, equipment, and intangible assets. For
example, a survey of 208 large industrial firms between 1925 and 1934 revealed that 75% of the
sample firms recorded upward or downward asset revaluations during this period, including 70
write-ups of property, plant, and equipment, seven write-ups of intangibles, and 43 write-ups of
investments.*® Further, prior to 1938, banking organizations were required for supervisory
purposes to use market value accounting for their investment securities portfolios. Serious
concerns on the part of the U.S. Treasury and the bank regulators over how this affected the
banks’ financial performance and investment decisions led the agencies to abandon in that year
the use of this accounting concept for supervisory purposes.*

In the aftermath of the Great Depression, there was a general move toward more “conservative”
accounting. This included a move away from the use of “current values” or “appraised values”
for long-lived assets such as fixed assets and intangibles.”* This move away from “current
value” accounting and towards the use of historic cost accounting for long-lived assets was
strongly supported by Robert E. Healy, the first Chief Accountant of the SEC. Healy had
participated in the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) investigation of business practices that
preceded the formation of the SEC. This investigation uncovered widespread use of asset write-
ups which the FTC viewed as arbitrary. Commenting on the findings of this investigation, Healy
is quoted as observing that “you can capitalize in some [s]tates practically everything except the
furnace ashes in the basement.”®? During Healy’s tenure, the newly-formed SEC strongly

% See |AS 36, Impairment of Assets.

8 See Solomon Fabricant, Revaluations of Fixed Assets, 1925-1934, National Bureau of Economic Research
Bulletin (December 1936). As a counterpoint, however, a study by Kirsten Eli & Gregory Waymire, Intangible
Assets and Stock Prices in the Pre-SEC Era, 37 Journal of Accounting Research (Supplement) (1999), at 17-44,
found evidence of some firms adopting deliberately conservative accounting policies in this pre-regulatory period.
For example, many firms (e.g., General Electric) wrote-down their intangible assets to nominal amounts, e.g., $1.
For a further discussion, see Gregory Waymire & Sudipta Basu, Accounting is an Evolving Economic Institution,
Foundations and Trends in Accounting (2008), Forthcoming.

% See, e.g., letter dated November 1, 1990, from Federal Reserve Chairman Alan Greenspan to SEC Chairman
Richard Breeden.

° See R. G. Walker, The SEC’s Ban on Upward Asset Revaluations and the Disclosure of Current Values, 28
Abacus 1 (1992), at 3-35.

% Joel Seligman, The Transformation of Wall Street: A History of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
Modern Corporate Finance, 108 (3" ed. 2003).
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endorsed historic cost accounting for long-lived assets and moved to curtail the use of “appraised
values” through the registration process. By 1940, the practice of the upward revaluation of
fixed assets — a practice that had been commonplace in the late 1920s — was virtually extinct
from financial reporting in the U.S.%

Valuation of Securities

The use of fair value measurement expanded significantly in 1975, with the issuance of
authoritative accounting literature that mandated its use in certain circumstances due to concerns
about the appropriate measurement attribute for equity securities. Prior to 1975, there was a lack
of consistency in accounting literature, which resulted in diversity in accounting practice,
specifically with respect to marketable securities. Accounting practices included carrying such
securities at cost, at market, and, in some cases, a combination of both measurements for
different classes of securities. During 1973 and 1974, there were substantial declines in the
market values of many securities. These declines, in many cases, were not reflected in financial
reports. When the market recovered in 1975, the accounting guidance was unclear on whether
securities previously written down could be written up to previous carrying amounts. As a result
of these issues, the FASB issued SFAS No. 12, Accounting for Certain Marketable Securities, in
December 1975, which required that all marketable equity securities be recorded at the lower-of-
cost-or-fair-value. Debt securities continued to be accounted for at amortized cost.

Banking and Savings and Loan Crisis

The banking and savings and loan crisis of the 1980s exposed challenges with the historic cost
model of accounting for financial institutions, as:

...in the Savings and Loan Crisis in the U.S., historic cost accounting masked the [extent
of the] problem by allowing losses to show up gradually through negative net interest
income. It can be argued that a mark-to-market approach would have helped to reveal to
regulators and investors that these institutions had problems. This may have helped to
prompt changes earlier than actually occurred and that would have allowed the problem
to be reversed at a lower fiscal cost.**

Specifically, savings and loan institutions accepted short-term deposits and used these deposits to
fund long-term fixed-rate (e.g., 30-year) mortgage loans, their primary asset. In the late 1970s
and early 1980s, interest rates were driven up by high inflation. Many savings and loans were
then in a position where they had to pay a higher rate of interest on their deposits than they were
earning on their existing fixed-rate mortgage loans. If these savings and loan institutions had to
sell their mortgage assets, which yielded, for example, five percent, to repay their deposits that
were currently yielding, for example, ten percent, they would have had to severely discount their
mortgage assets (because the current market rate was ten percent rather than the five percent

% See Stephen Zeff, The SEC Rules Historic Cost Accounting: 1934 to the 1970s, 37 Accounting and Business
Research (International Accounting Policy Forum Issue) (2007).

% Franklin Allen & Elena Carletti, Mark-to-Market Accounting and Liquidity Pricing, 45 Journal of Accounting and
Economics, at 358-378.
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when their mortgages were originated). In some cases, the “current value” of their assets was
less than the value of their liabilities, and these institutions were economically insolvent.
However, under the historic cost accounting model, these losses were not reflected in their
financial statements, with the effect of reducing transparency surrounding the solvency position
of these institutions. This, in turn, created a moral hazard problem, whereby the management of
economically less solvent institutions then had an incentive to take-on more risky investments
(e.g., commercial real estate) in the hope that they could trade their way out of their current
economically less solvent position. In effect, the historical-cost-based financial statements
obscured underlying economic losses and allowed troubled financial institutions to go
undetected. This led to various calls in the late 1980s and early 1990s for more use of market
values in regulatory accounting for financial institutions.*®

Historical-cost-based financial statements also allowed financial institutions to engage in “gains
trading.”® With the greater interest rate volatility in the 1980s, financial institutions were
increasingly in the position of holding assets or liabilities where the current market values of
these financial instruments differed markedly from their historical cost values shown in their
financial statements. In this situation management could opportunistically choose which assets
to sell, or which liabilities to settle, in order to realize gains (or losses) in particular accounting
periods. This afforded management a powerful income statement management tool.?” In
addition, for financial institutions short of capital, this created an incentive for the management
to sell their well-performing assets in order to realize gains to boost their capital, but retain their
poorly-performing assets (which had unrealized losses).

Changes in the Banking Model During the 1980s

The change in the business environment during the 1980s also provides the backdrop that is
necessary to understand the progress of fair value accounting. Historically, many financial
institutions did not have dynamic risk management strategies and would rarely sell investments
before their maturity. Deregulation of interest rates during this period caused a change in the
strategies of financial institutions, and securities positions were traded more actively. New
financial instruments were created in response to changes in the market, such as deregulation, tax
law changes, volatility, and other factors.®® U.S. GAAP for such changes in financial
instruments was being developed on an issue-by-issue basis. For example, accounting literature
issued included SFAS No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation, issued in 1981, which required fair
value accounting for certain foreign exchange contracts through the income statement and SFAS

% See, e.g., Edward J. Kane, The Gathering Crisis in Federal Deposit Insurance (1985); Lawrence J. White, On
Measurement of Bank Capital, 13 Journal of Retail Banking 2 (1991), at 27-34; and George Benston, Market Value
Accounting: Benefits, Costs and Incentives, Proceedings of the Conference on Bank Structure and Competition,
Chicago: Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago (1989), at 547-563.

% The FASB’s subsequent adoption of SFAS No. 115, requiring fair value accounting for most marketable securities
was motivated, in part, by the desire to curtail such “gains trading.” See James Thompson, SFAS 115: A Victory for
Fair Value Accounting, 39 National Public Accountant 10 (1994), at 21-30.

%7 See testimony of Richard C. Breeden, Chairman, SEC, before Committee of Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs
of United States Senate on Issues Involving Financial Institutions and Accounting Principles (June 25, 1999).

% See SFAS No. 105, Disclosure of Information about Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk and
Financial Instruments with Concentrations of Credit Risks.
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No. 80, Accounting for Futures Contracts, issued in 1984, which required futures contracts that
do not qualify for hedge accounting to be measured at fair value through income.

FASB’s Financial Instruments Project

Due, in part, to the savings and loan crisis, the FASB recognized the need to develop disclosure
and accounting requirements on a broader basis for all classes of financial instruments. The
broader project was added to the FASB’s agenda in 1986 “to address financial reporting issues
that were arising, or that were given a new sense of urgency, as a result of financial
innovation.”® A disclosure project was viewed as an interim step in addressing accounting
issues surrounding such financial instruments and off-balance sheet financing. This project
resulted in the issuance of SFAS No. 105, in March 1990, and SFAS No. 107, Disclosures about
Fair Value of Financial Instruments (“SFAS No. 107”), in December 1991.

The FASB continued its work on a second phase of the broader project of accounting for
financial instruments to address issues of inconsistent literature, the perceived greater relevance
of fair value information, gains trading practices, and the inequitable result of lower-of-cost-or-
fair-value accounting. This work resulted in the FASB issuing SFAS No. 115 in 1994. As
previously described in this study, this statement requires companies to classify their investments
in debt or equity securities as trading, AFS, or HTM, with different accounting models for each
classification.

In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 130, Reporting Other Comprehensive Income (“SFAS
No. 130”). This statement was issued in response to user concerns that changes in certain assets
and liabilities were being recorded directly in equity, bypassing the income statement. In an
attempt to improve the transparency and prominence of such items, the FASB required that
changes in equity needed to be reported individually and with the same prominence as other
financial statements included in a full set of financial statements. Unrealized gains and losses on
AFS securities were one category required to be so reported. The impact of SFAS No. 130 was
to make changes in value of AFS securities — which continue to be excluded from income — more
transparent.

Expanded Use of Derivative Instruments in the 1990s

The historical cost accounting model was not well-suited to address the development and
proliferation of derivative instruments. These instruments often involve little or no initial
investment but, given the leveraged nature of the positions, subsequent changes in value can be
dramatic. The historical accounting model did not appropriately capture the associated risks and
uncertainties or subsequent changes in value. An increase in the use of derivatives, lack of
transparency around their values, and major losses incurred by various entities as a result of
investments in derivatives'® were factors that led the FASB to develop a new accounting

% SFAS No. 133, paragraph 207.

190 See Thomas R. Weirich & Lynn E. Turner, What’s New in Derivative Regulation, 6 The Journal of Corporate
Accounting and Finance 1 (Autumn 1994) at 1-16. Exhibit 2 in the article presents, “Major Losses due to Derivative
Activity,” including $1 billion losses for Metallgesellschaft and Proctor & Gamble Co.
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standard on derivative instruments, resulting in the issuance of SFAS No. 133 in June 1998.*

As noted previously in this study, SFAS No. 133 requires that all derivatives be accounted for at
fair value on the balance sheet (with minor exceptions). Changes in the fair value of the
derivatives are to be recorded in income unless the derivatives qualify for special accounting
treatment known as hedge accounting.

4, Other Measurement Bases
a. Description of Other Measurement Bases

For the purpose of this discussion, measurement (the basis given for purposes of accounting)
refers to both the initial measurement of an asset or liability and subsequent measurement,
including revaluations, impairment, and depreciation. As noted above, fair value is only one of
several measurement bases currently used in the mixed-attribute accounting model. Other

measurement bases used in current accounting practice include:'%

Historical cost

Current cost

Net realizable value

Present value of future cash flows

This list is not intended to be exhaustive. Some aspects of the measurement bases listed above
could be disputed (e.g., the present value of future cash flows could be considered a
measurement technique rather than a measurement basis per se). Other bases arguably could
also be added (e.g., deprival value, which is the loss that an entity would suffer if it were
deprived of an asset), but such other bases would typically be defined by reference to or hold
attributes in common with the measurement bases listed.'*

The Boards have been engaged in ongoing work to identify, define, and evaluate potential
measurement bases in order to draw conceptual conclusions regarding their appropriateness in
future standard-setting projects. Below, brief descriptions of the measurement bases listed above
as used in current practice is provided, followed by discussion of the Boards’ ongoing work
regarding potential measurement attributes. Section VI.B further discusses issues related to
identifying appropriate measurement bases.

101 See SFAS No. 133, Background Information and Basis for Conclusions, especially paragraph 212, and United
States General Accounting Office, Report to Congressional Requesters, Financial Derivatives: Actions Needed to
Protect the Financial System (May 1994)

192 See SFAC No. 5, paragraph 67.

103 See |ASB Discussion Paper, Measurement Bases for Financial Accounting — Measurement on Initial
Recognition, prepared by the staff of the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (November 17, 2005), paragraphs
71,73, and 94.
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Historical Cost

Historical cost (or historical proceeds) is the amount of cash, or its equivalent, paid to acquire an
asset or received when an obligation is incurred.’®* After initial measurement, it is often adjusted
for impairment, depreciation, amortization or other allocations (e.g., historical cost less
accumulated depreciation). Some have observed that the term “historical exchange price” may
be more descriptive than “historical cost.” While such terms describe the measurement basis for
many classes of assets (e.g., most inventory, property, equipment), it is less fitting for other
classes of assets and liabilities (e.g., deferred income tax assets, warranties payable).'%®

Current Cost

Current cost broadly refers to the amount of cash or its equivalent currently required to replace
the asset with an identical one or one with equivalent productive capacity or service potential.*®
Some inventories are reported at current cost. Variations of current cost include replacement
cost and reproduction cost.

Net Realizable Value

Net realizable value, sometimes referred to as settlement value, is the non-discounted amount of
cash, or its equivalent, expected to be derived from the sale of an asset, net of selling costs and
costs to complete, as well as the non-discounted amount of cash, or its equivalent, that is
expected to be paid to liquidate an obligation in the due course of business. Examples of items
where this measure is utilized include short-term receivables, trade payables, and warranty
obligations.'®’

Present VValue of Future Cash Flows

Present value of future cash flows refers to the present or discounted value of estimated future
net cash flows, generally as expected to arise from an asset or to satisfy a liability in due course
of business.’® Long-term receivables and payables are examples of items that incorporate the
concept of discounted cash flows. This definition is similar to the concept of fundamental value
or value-in-use,'® which would also take into account the entity’s internal information about the
likely performance of the asset, such as its ability to extract above average net cash flows from

104 See SFAC No. 5, paragraph 67a.
195 See SFAC No. 5, paragraphs 68-69.

106 See SFAC No. 5, paragraph 67b; and IASB Discussion Paper, Measurement Bases for Financial Accounting —
Measurement on Initial Recognition, prepared by the staff of the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (November
17, 2005), paragraph 320.

197 See SFAC No. 5, paragraph 67d.
108 See SFAC No. 5, paragraph 67e.

19 5ee SFAC No. 7, Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value in Accounting Measurements (“SFAC No.
77, paragraph 24b; and IFRS 5A, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (“IFRS 5A”).
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an asset. Under IFRS, value-in-use is used, for example, to determine the recoverable amount in
accounting for some impairment evaluations.*°

b. Consideration of Measurement Attributes

In developing standards, accounting standard-setters typically provide some degree of
measurement guidance, including the required or permitted measurement attribute(s) to apply to
the assets and liabilities that are covered by the particular standard. Ideally, the conceptual
frameworks for the set of accounting standards would provide the standard-setter with tools to
use in deciding when to apply particular measurement attributes. However, the Boards’ staffs
have noted that measurement is one of the more underdeveloped areas in the accounting
conceptual frameworks, commenting that “[n]either of the current [conceptual] frameworks
provides any analysis of the strengths and weaknesses of the various measurement bases, nor do
they offer any guidance on choosing among the listed bases or considering other alternatives.”**

In a 2003 study on principles-based accounting standards, the Staff observed that an ideal
principles-based or objectives-oriented accounting standard would, among other things, be based
on an improved and consistently applied conceptual framework.? The Staff also observed that
several facets of the FASB’s existing conceptual framework would need to be addressed in order
to facilitate a shift to a more principles-based regime, including the establishment of a paradigm
for selecting from among possible measurement attributes.***

Since 2004, the Boards have been engaged in ongoing work to improve, on a joint basis, their
existing respective conceptual frameworks. The project has multiple phases, with “Phase C”
focusing on measurement.*** Phase C of the project seeks to identify and define possible
measurement bases (“Milestone 1), evaluate the measurement basis candidates (“Milestone 11”),
and draw conceptual conclusions (such as whether use of a single measurement basis would
satisfy the needs of financial statement users or if some combination of bases is needed), as well
as address practical measurement issues that the Boards encounter when developing standards
(“Milestone 111”). Milestone | was completed in Spring 2007, with the Boards agreeing to a set
of nine proposed measurement basis candidates, which differ in terminology from the
measurement bases described earlier that are currently in use.**® The nine proposed
measurement basis candidates are discussed further in Section V1.B of this study.

110 See IFRS 5A.

11 See the Boards’ staffs, Conceptual Framework Project Phase C: Measurement Milestone | Summary Report —
Inventory and Definitions of Possible Measurement Bases (“Milestone | Summary Report”). (available at:
http://www.fasb.org/project/CF_Milestone_|_Summary_Report.pdf)

112 See Study Pursuant to Section 108(d) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 on the Adoption by the United States
Financial Reporting System of a Principles-Based Accounting System, July 2003 (“Principles-Based Accounting
Study”), at Executive Summary.

113 5ee |bid.

114 See information about the Boards’ joint project at:
http://www.fash.org/project/conceptual_framework.shtml#background.

115 See Milestone | Summary Report.
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The Staff has previously observed a need for the FASB’s existing conceptual framework to more
clearly articulate how the trade-offs among relevance, reliability, and comparability of
accounting information should be made.™® Relevance, reliability, and comparability are referred
to as “qualitative characteristics” of accounting information, and have been described as
follows:*’

e Relevance — the capacity of information to make a difference in a decision by helping users
to form predictions about the outcomes of the past, present, and future events or to confirm or
correct prior expectations.

e Reliability — the quality of information that assures that information is reasonably free from
error and bias and faithfully represents what it purports to represent.

e Comparability — the quality of information that enables users to identify similarities in and
differences between two sets of economic phenomena.

During January and February 2007, the Boards held roundtable discussions on measurement and
gathered views from the roundtable participants as to how well different measurement bases
satisfied these qualitative characteristics.'*® The most frequent comment about historical cost as
a measurement basis was that it is reliable. The most frequent criticism of historical cost was
that it is not relevant. A few participants noted that historical cost is not comparable (i.e., it gives
different numbers for the same items).

In contrast, the most frequent comment about fair value was that it is the most relevant attribute
for an asset or liability (i.e., contemporary information is more useful to financial statement users
in making decisions). However, some participants expressed concerns about fair value on the
grounds that it is not reliable. More specific comments about fair value were that it is not
objective, it is not precise, it is subject to too many assumptions, and that investors are skeptical
of mark-to-model numbers.

116 See Principles-Based Accounting Study.
17 See SFAC No. 2, Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information.

118 Roundtable participants included representatives of reporting entities (preparers), auditors, investors, regulators,
and other users of financial reporting. See Boards’ staffs, Summary Report of the Conceptual Framework
Measurement Roundtables, Hong Kong, London, and Norwalk (January and February 2007), paragraph 52.
(available at http://www.fasb.org/project/cf_roundtable_summary_report.pdf)
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1. Effects of Fair Value Accounting Standards on Financial
Institutions’ Balance Sheets

This section of the study examines the impact of fair value accounting on financial institutions’
balance sheets.*** While not mandated by the Act, to obtain a more complete understanding of
the impact of such accounting, this section also considers its impact on the income statement.
Specifically, this section provides:

e Anoverview of the methodology for studying the effects of fair value accounting standards;
and

e Empirical findings from this study.

As demonstrated by this study, fair value, on an overall basis, is used to measure less than a
majority of assets and liabilities of financial institutions, with mark-to-market accounting (for
which changes in fair value are recognized in income) representing a significantly smaller
population of instruments, generally comprised of trading securities and derivatives. However,
the impact of changes in fair value on the income statement is significant.

A. Methodology for Studying Effects of Fair Value Accounting Standards

For purposes of this section, the Staff studied the application of fair value accounting on
financial institutions’ balance sheets based on a sample of 50 issuers determined as follows:

e The Staff prepared a list of public financial institutions on a best-efforts basis. The Staff
focused on public entities due to the readily available financial data for these entities. This
list included banks, broker-dealers, and insurance companies, as mandated by the Act, as
well as credit institutions and GSEs, as they are also institutions in the financial sector that
may be affected by fair value accounting standards. Inclusion in this list was based on
Standard Industrial Classification, or SIC, codes*?® and comprised over 900 issuers.

e The Staff ranked this population by total reported value of assets as of the issuer’s most
recent fiscal year end.

e The Staff selected a sample of 50 issuers from this ranked list as follows:
0 To obtain at least 75% coverage of financial institution assets in the U.S. as of the most

recent fiscal year end, after the exclusions discussed below, the Staff chose the first 30
issuers on this list. Throughout this section, these larger financial institutions are referred

119 Unless otherwise specified, percentages and dollar amounts throughout the remainder of this study represent
approximations.

120 The following SIC codes were included in the sample: 6000, 6011, 6020-22, 6025, 6030, 6035-36, 6111, 6140,
6141, 6200, 6210-11, 6231, 6282, 6305, 6310-11, 6320-21, 6324, 6330-31, 6350-51, 6360-61, 6399, 6411 6712, and
6719.
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to as “large issuers.” All issuers in this sample had assets as of the most recent fiscal year
end of greater than $135 billion.

o To obtain a representative sample of smaller financial institutions, the Staff chose 20
issuers, starting with the next largest company in this ranked list and then every 42™
company. Throughout this study, these smaller financial institutions are referred to as
“small issuers.”

o If aninitially selected company did not meet the additional criteria below, it was
excluded and the immediately following company was selected.

- Foreign private issuers were excluded due to the difficulty in obtaining financial
information under U.S. GAAP on an annual and quarterly basis.

- Issuers with year-ends other than November 30 or December 31 were excluded to
facilitate comparability of financial results on an annual and quarterly basis.**!

- Issuers were excluded if they did not have current financial statements, notes to the
financial statements, and MD&A disclosures available via annual filings (i.e., Forms
10-K or 10-KSB) and quarterly filings (i.e., Forms 10-Q or 10-QSB) with the SEC.

Data utilized for this study were obtained from Forms 10-K, 10-KSB, 10-Q, and 10-QSB, as
applicable, filed by these issuers with the SEC.

The effective date for SFAS No. 157 and SFAS No. 159 was January 1, 2008 for all calendar
year-end companies. Accordingly, the Staff performed its study as of the end of the first
reporting quarter after the effective date of SFAS No. 157 and SFAS No. 159 (first quarter 2008)
for all companies for the purposes of the balance sheet study. However, companies were
permitted to early adopt both standards as of January 1, 2007. Eleven issuers in the sample
(primarily large banks and broker-dealers) early adopted these standards. Therefore, during the
2007 calendar year, there is a lack of comparability of accounting information between early
adopters and those that did not early adopt. Accordingly, to understand progression and changes
in the use of fair value over time, the Staff compared financial information as of the end of 2006
and first quarter 2008, as neither SFAS No. 157 nor SFAS No. 159 was effective for the 2006
calendar year for any company and all companies had completed their adoption of these
standards as of the first quarter of 2008. Where SFAS No. 157 and SFAS No. 159 had no impact
on specific financial data, the Staff compared 2006, 2007, and 2008.

The inclusion of third quarter information in the analysis of the impact was determined by the
timing of the availability of third quarter information, as third quarter filings for most issuers in
the sample selected were not due until November 10, 2008. Accordingly, third quarter
information was primarily utilized in certain analyses to demonstrate the progressive impact of
fair value accounting over time. As of December 15, 2008, two issuers (one large bank and one

121 There were three issuers in the sample which had November 30 year-ends and 47 issuers in the sample which had
December 31 year-ends.
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large broker-dealer) had not filed a Form 10-Q for the third quarter of 2008. Accordingly, to the
extent that third quarter 2008 information is included in an analysis, prior period data are shown
both on an actual basis and a pro forma basis, excluding the effects of these two issuers to

facilitate comparability over time.

The analysis of the impact of fair value was performed on the sample group of issuers as a
whole, by issuer industry, and / or by issuer size. This study analyzed the impact of fair value
(what is measured at fair value) as well as SFAS No. 157 (how to measure fair value) on the
financial statements of financial institutions.

Exhibit 11.1: Size of Issuers in Sample

Sub-Samples
Full Sample Large Issuers Small Issuers
(n=50) (n=30) (n=20)
U.S. Market (U.S. $ in millions)
Capitalization of
Common Stock * $1,213,174 $1,202,653 $10,521
b

Total Assets $17,668,996 $17,589,482 $79,484

b
Total Liabilities $16,413,693 $16,345,671 $68,022

a

Market capitalization as of July 31, 2008 is equal to the number of shares outstanding multiplied by the closing stock price as
of July 31, 2008. The corresponding values were obtained from the daily files of the Center for Research in Securities Prices at
E)he University of Chicago - Graduate School of Business.

These data were collected from the face of the balance sheet in the Form 10-K or 10-KSB filing for the fiscal year ended 2007.

a
Exhibit 11.2: Industry Grouping of Issuers in Sample

Sub-Samples
Full Sample Large Issuers Small Issuers
(n=50) (n=30) (n=20)
Banking 27 13 14
Insurance 12 8 4
Broker-Dealer 5 4 1
Government Sponsored Enterprises 3 3 0
Credit Institutions 3 2 1

a
These data were collected based on SIC code from the cover page of each issuer’s Form 10-K or 10-KSB filing.

B. Empirical Findings from this Study on Effects of Fair Value Accounting

Standards

This section discusses the empirical findings from the study of issuer filings to determine the
impact of fair value on financial statements of financial institutions. These findings are
organized into subsections on assets, liabilities, equity, and income statements. Within these
subsections, the Staff analyzed the effects of fair value accounting for all financial institutions in
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the sample and, as appropriate, by issuer industry and issuer size to more fully explore findings
noted on an overall basis.

1. Assets
a. Significance of Assets Measured at Fair Value

I. Percentage of Assets Measured at Fair Value

Analysis on Overall Basis

Exhibit 11.3 illustrates that, overall, financial institutions recorded 45% of all assets at fair value
as of first quarter-end 2008. This percentage only includes assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis in the balance sheet (either by requirement or election).*??

Exhibit 11.3: Percentage of Assets Measured at Fair Value — As of First Quarter-End 2008

45% O Fair Value

55% B Other than

Fair Value

Analysis by Issuer Industry

Exhibit 11.4 illustrates the percentage of assets measured at fair value by issuer industry as of first
quarter-end 2008.

122 See explanation of differences between recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements in Section 1.D.2 of
this study.
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Exhibit 11.4: Percentage of Assets Measured at Fair Value by Industry — As of First Quarter-End
2008
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Thirty-one percent of bank assets were reported at fair value as of first quarter-end 2008. Banks
generally carried investment securities, trading assets, and derivatives at fair value. For the
banks in the sample, these items represented 12%, 13%, and 4%, respectively, of total assets.

Broker-Dealers

Fifty percent of broker-dealer assets were reported at fair value as of first quarter-end 2008. This
industry reported large trading and derivative instruments portfolios (including inventory), which
were measured at fair value. Specifically, these assets constituted 43% of broker-dealer total
assets, and 87% of assets that were measured at fair value. However, cash, fixed assets, accounts
receivable, securities borrowed, and reverse repurchase agreements were reported at historical
cost or at contract or collateral values, which comprised the remaining 50% of the balance sheet
unless the FVO is selected for eligible instruments. Given the nature of the assets not recorded at
fair value, it is possible that many of these asset classes were recorded at amounts near fair value,
as cost is likely to approximate fair value (e.g., cash, short-term receivables, and reverse
repurchase agreements).

Credit Institutions
As of first quarter-end 2008, 14% of credit institution assets were reported at fair value. The
majority of credit institution assets consisted of cash and cash equivalents, loans, and accounts
receivable, which were generally not reported at fair value. Investment securities were the major
category of assets reported at fair value and accounted for 92% of all assets reported at fair value.
Overall, investment securities constituted 13% of total assets for credit institutions.

GSEs
Exhibit 11.4 illustrates that 56% of the total assets of GSEs were reported at fair value as of first
quarter-end 2008. GSEs had investment securities and trading accounts that were reported at fair
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value. For the GSEs in the sample, these items represent 49% and 6%, respectively, of total
assets. Investment securities were the major category of assets reported at fair value and
accounted for 87% of all assets reported at fair value.

Insurance

Exhibit I1.4 illustrates that at 71% of total assets, the insurance industry had the greatest amount
of assets reported at fair value on the balance sheet as of first quarter-end 2008. Insurance
companies reported investment securities and separate account assets at fair value. For the
insurance companies in the sample, these items represented 44% and 24%, respectively, of total
assets. These two asset categories accounted for 96% of all assets at fair value.

Analysis by Issuer Size

Exhibit 1.5 shows the level of fair value measurements as a percentage of total assets of the large
issuers compared to the small issuers as of first quarter-end 2008.

Exhibit 11.5: Percentage of Assets Measured at Fair Value by Issuer Size — As of First Quarter-End
2008
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As of first quarter-end 2008, the analysis illustrates that the percentage of assets measured at fair
value was 45% for the large issuers and 54% for the small issuers. The small issuers included in
the sample have a larger percentage of assets at fair value than the large issuers due to the
industry composition of the large and small issuer groups. As noted above, insurance companies
comprised about 18% of large issuer total assets, and approximately 72% of small issuer total
assets. Insurance companies generally reported a greater percentage of assets at fair value.
Further, insurance companies in the small issuer group reported 69% of total assets are at fair
value, which was only slightly lower than the 71% of assets at fair value for the large insurance
companies.

With respect to the non-insurance companies in the large issuer group, 39% of their assets were

recorded at fair value compared to only 16% of assets at fair value for the non-insurance
companies in the small issuers sampled. There were two primary reasons the percentage of
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assets at fair value for the large non-insurance issuers exceeded that of the small non-insurance
issuers. First, large issuers had higher levels of investments in trading and derivative assets that
were required to be reported at fair value. For both large and small non-insurance companies,
the majority of assets at fair value were investments, trading assets, and derivatives; however,
these accounts represented 36% of total assets for large issuers and only 14% of total assets for
small issuers. The second reason related to management elections to report certain assets at fair
value on a voluntary basis. In the sample of non-insurance issuers, 17 large issuers made the
election to use fair value to measure assets compared to one issuer in the group of small issuers.

ii. Percentage of Assets Measured at Fair Value through
Income

Overall Analysis

Although 45% of assets of the sampled issuers were measured at fair value on an overall basis as
of first quarter-end 2008, as noted in Section 1.B, the change in the fair value of assets measured
at fair value on a recurring basis did not always impact income, as some changes in asset fair
values were recognized in OCI or were offset by equivalent changes in related liabilities.
Specifically, Exhibit I1.6 illustrates that 25% of total assets were measured at fair value through
the income statement.?* The remaining 20% were measured at fair value, but did not affect
income.

Exhibit 11.6: Percentage of Assets whose Changes in Fair Value Affected Income compared with
Percentage of Assets whose Changes in Fair Value Did Not Affect Income and Percentage of Assets
Not Reported at Fair Value — As of First Quarter-End 2008

20%

O Fair Value Not Affecting
Income

@ Fair Value Affecting
Income

B Other than Fair Value

55%
25%

123 As a result of the unique nature of derivatives that qualify for netting under ISDA master netting arrangements,
the Staff was unable to specifically identify the fair value of derivatives that were in asset positions and designated
in cash flow hedging relationships. The Staff, therefore, considered all derivative instruments as impacting the
income statement.
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Analysis by Issuer Industry

Exhibit 11.7 provides an analysis of assets measured at fair value through the income statement,
assets measured at fair value without affecting income, and assets that were measured at other
than fair value by issuer industry.

Exhibit 11.7: Percentage of Assets whose Changes in Fair Value Affected Income compared with
Percentage of Assets whose Changes in Fair Value Did Not Affect Income and Percentage of Assets
Not Reported at Fair Value by Industry — As of First Quarter-End 2008
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Banking

Exhibit I1.4 illustrates that 31% of total bank assets were reported at fair value as of first quarter-
end 2008. Of assets reported at fair value, 30% constituted investment securities reported as
AFS (with changes in fair value recognized in OCI). Accordingly, as illustrated in Exhibit 11.7,
22% of total assets were reported at fair value with changes in value impacting income, primarily
comprised of trading securities and derivatives, and 9% of total assets were reported at fair value
changes recognized in OCI.

Broker-Dealers

Exhibit 11.4 illustrates that 50% of broker-dealer assets were measured at fair value and changes
in the fair value of almost all of these assets were reported in the income statement. Broker-
dealers generally had an insignificant percentage of assets that were measured at fair value
through OCI. This industry reported large trading and derivative instruments portfolios
(including trading inventory), which were measured at fair value with changes recorded in the
income statement.

Credit Institutions
Of the 14% of total credit institution assets measured at fair value as of first quarter-end 2008,

90% of assets measured at fair value were investment securities classified as AFS. Thus, the
issuers sampled in this industry group had 1% of total assets measured at fair value with changes
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in fair value recorded in the income statement, and 13% of total assets measured at fair value
with changes recorded in OCI.

GSEs

Of the 56% of total assets measured at fair value as of first quarter-end 2008, 76% were
investment securities classified as AFS. Therefore, this industry group had 13% of assets that
were measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in the income statement and 43%
of assets measured at fair value with change recorded in OCI.

Insurance

Exhibit I1.4 illustrates that at 71% of total assets as of first quarter-end 2008, the insurance
industry had the greatest amount of assets reported at fair value on the balance sheet. However,
62% of total insurance company assets that were reported at fair value did not affect net income.
Specifically, 38% of their total assets were AFS investment securities which were measured at
fair value, with the changes in the fair value of such assets recorded in OCI. The next largest
group of assets recorded at fair value was separate account assets, which represented 24% of
total assets. These separate account assets had an offsetting separate accounts liability, and the
change in the fair value of the separate account assets generally resulted in an equal and
offsetting change in the separate account liability. Therefore, although this item was recorded at
fair value, the net change in fair value of the asset and liability had little, if any, impact on net
income on a recurring basis. In other words, the changes in fair value offset. After considering
investment securities and separate account assets, 9% of total assets measured at fair value
impacted the income statement for the insurance industry.

Analysis by Issuer Size

Exhibit 11.8 provides an analysis of assets measured at fair value through the income statement,
assets measured at fair value without affecting income, and assets that were measured at other
than fair value by issuer size as of first quarter-end 2008.
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Exhibit 11.8: Percentage of Assets whose Changes in Fair Value Affected Income compared with
Percentage of Assets whose Changes in Fair Value Did Not Affect Income and Percentage of Assets
Not Measured at Fair Value by Issuer Size — As of First Quarter-End 2008
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Large issuers sampled included a greater proportion of broker-dealers and banks that reported a
larger percentage of trading assets and derivative portfolios which were required to be measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in income. The small issuer group was
comprised of banks and insurance companies that had larger fixed-income securities portfolios
that were generally designated as AFS.

iii. Distribution of Issuers by Percentage of Assets
Measured at Fair Value

Overall Analysis

Although, on average, 45% of assets were measured at fair value as of first quarter-end 2008,
issuers in the sample were not evenly distributed around this mean. Exhibit 11.9 illustrates the
number of issuers based on tiers ranging from those that used fair value to measure less than
10% of assets to those that used fair value to measure more than 75% of their assets. A majority
of the issuers, 36 out of 50, held 50% or less of their assets at fair value. The remaining 14
issuers were split evenly, with seven holding between 50% and 75% of their assets at fair value
and seven holding more than 75% of their assets at fair value.
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Exhibit 11.9: Distribution of Issuers by Percentage of Assets Measured at Fair Value — As of First
Quarter-End 2008
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Of the seven issuers with fair value assets representing 50% to 75% of total assets, one was a
bank, two were broker-dealers, and four were insurance companies. Of the seven issuers with
fair value assets representing greater than 75% of total assets, one was a GSE and six were
insurance companies. See additional discussion related to the distribution in the analysis
performed by industry after Exhibit 11.10.

Analysis by Issuer Industry

Similar to the overall analysis, the distribution on an industry basis as of first quarter-end 2008
shows that issuers’ percentages of assets at fair value were not evenly distributed around the
mean.

Exhibit 11.10: Distribution of Issuers by Percentage of Assets Measured at Fair Value by Industry —
As of First Quarter-End 2008
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Banking

In the banking industry, one bank had assets reported at fair value in an amount greater than 50%
of total assets. On average, 22% of total assets at banks sampled were reported at fair value,
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with changes in fair value reported in the income statement. Fifteen banks in the sample ranged
from 10% to 25% (mainly around the upper end of this range) and nine banks ranged from 25%
to 50% (mainly around the lower end of this range). The banking industry reported total assets
measured at fair value ranging from 5% to 51%.

Broker-Dealers

In the broker-dealer industry, two broker-dealers reported assets at fair value of greater than 50%
of total assets and three reported assets at fair value between 25% and 50% of total assets. The
broker-dealer industry reported total assets measured at fair value ranging from 39% to 65%.

Credit Institutions

Credit institutions tended to be on the lower end of the distribution range. One credit institution
reported no assets measured at fair value and the other two reported assets measured at fair value
ranging between 10% and 25% of total assets. The credit institutions had total assets measured
at fair value which range from 0% to 16%.

GSEs

Of the three GSEs sampled, there was one GSE each in the ranges of 0% to 10%, 25% to 50%,
and greater than 75% of total assets measured at fair value. This primarily occurred as one GSE
held a large portfolio of loans which are accounted for on a historical cost basis, another GSE
held a large portfolio of securities which are backed by similar loans but are accounted for at fair
value, and the third GSE had a mixed portfolio of loans and securities. GSEs had 6%, 40%, and
82% of total assets at fair value.

Insurance

Exhibit 11.10 illustrates that fair value measurements were used more extensively by the
insurance companies — 10 of the 12 companies had greater than 50% of total reported assets
measured at fair value. Insurance companies tended to be on the higher end of the range
primarily because they carried relatively large portfolios of AFS securities and separate accounts.
Insurance companies had total assets measured at fair value ranging from 26% to 85%.

iv. Use of Fair Value Option

Several recent FASB standards (SFAS No. 155, 156 and 159) provided companies with an
option to measure certain assets at fair value. While the effective dates of these statements were
different, for the purposes of this study, the following tables demonstrate the percentage of assets
that were reported at fair value as a result of a voluntary election made by the issuer as of first
quarter-end 2008. For five issuers (one bank, two broker-dealers, one GSE, and one insurance
company), the F\VO was elected to measure certain assets, but the Staff could not separately
determine the impact of such elections because their disclosures did not provide sufficient
disaggregation to separately identify the assets. For one bank, the Staff was unable to determine
whether the FVO was elected. These six issuers have been excluded from the analysis below.
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Analysis on Overall Basis

The elective use of fair value under the FVO was not made extensively by issuers in the sample.
As illustrated in Exhibit 11.11 below, 4% of total assets were reported at fair value by using fair
value accounting on a voluntary basis as of first quarter-end 2008. This may explain the slight
increase in fair value from year-end 2006 to first quarter-end 2008 noted in Exhibit 11.13 below.

Exhibit 11.11: Percentage of Assets Reported under the FVO — As of First Quarter-End 2008

4%

O Fair Value Option
Assets

B All Other Assets

96%

The fair value election was primarily selected for certain HFS loans, which issuers manage on a
fair value basis and for other assets such as MSRs where hedge accounting provisions are
complex making FVVO an attractive choice. Additionally, several issuers elected the FVO for
reverse repurchase agreements.

Analysis by Issuer Industry

As illustrated in Exhibit 11.12 below, the percentage of FVO assets to total assets, by industry,
was 4% for banks, 6% for broker-dealers, 5% for GSEs, and 3% for insurance companies.
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Exhibit 11.12: Percentage of Assets Reported under the FVO by Industry — As of First Quarter-End
2008
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While 31% of total bank assets were recorded at fair value as of first quarter-end 2008 (see
Exhibit 11.4), 4% were those in which the bank voluntarily elected to measure the asset at fair
value under the FVO. In the sample of 27 banks, 14 did not select the FVO for any assets. For
11 banks,*** the percentage of assets for which the F\VO was selected to total assets ranged from
0.1% to 7% of total assets.'®® Asset classes for which the large issuers selected the FVO
included loans (64%), reverse repurchase agreements (21%), other assets (6%), investments
(5%), HFS loans (3%), HFS mortgage loans (1%), and an immaterial amount of trading assets
and MSRs. One bank in the small issuer sample elected to record one asset, HFS loans, at fair
value under the FVO, which represented 2% of that issuer’s total assets held at fair value at
March 31, 2008. The use of FVO was most prevalent in the large issuer group, with assets
voluntarily recorded at fair value for 4% of total assets for this group.

Broker-Dealers

While broker-dealers recorded half of their assets, or 50%, at fair value, 6% were those where
the issuer voluntarily elected to measure the assets at fair value under the FVO. In the sample of
four large issuer broker-dealers, one issuer did not elect the FVO for any assets. Three issuers
elected to use the FVO, but two of these issuers did not provide disclosures to sufficiently
segregate the assets reported at fair value pursuant to the FVO from other assets reported at fair
value. There was one broker-dealer in the sample of small issuers, and this issuer did not elect to
measure any assets at fair value. For the one broker-dealer that utilized the FVO election and
where disclosures were sufficient to determine the separate impact, the percentage of total assets
for which the FVO was selected was 10%. Assets for which the FVO was selected included
reverse repurchase agreements (94%), investments (5%), and loans (1%).

124 As noted above, the Staff was unable to determine whether the FVO was selected for one bank.

125 As noted above, one bank was not analyzed due to a lack of information.
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Credit Institutions
None of the three credit institutions elected to measure assets at fair value under the FVO.
GSEs

While 56% of total GSE assets were recorded at fair value, 5% were those related to a voluntary
election to measure assets at fair value under the FVO. All three of the GSEs in the sample
elected the FVO. However, as mentioned above, one GSE did not provide disclosures to
sufficiently segregate the assets reported at fair value pursuant to the FVO from other assets
reported at fair value. For the two GSEs that did use the FVVO election and for which disclosure
was sufficient to segregate the impact, the analysis illustrated that assets for which the FVO was
selected constituted 6% and 2%, respectively. Assets for which the FVO was selected included
both non-mortgage-related securities and mortgage-related securities.

Insurance

Four of the 12 insurance companies made a FVO election, which involved insignificant assets
and liabilities in comparison to the respective consolidated amounts. The FVVO was elected for
short-term investments; trading securities (previously classified as AFS); securities purchased
under agreements to resell; fixed-maturity and equity securities backing certain pension
products; commercial loans; private equity investments; and investments in loan funds, hedge
funds, non-U.S. fixed-income funds, and c